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THE PRESIDENT: I call upon counsel for the defendant Hess,

DR. von ROHRSCHEIDT (Counsel for the Defendant Hess): May it please
the Tribunal, I am speaking here as counsel for the Defendant Rudolf Hess.

The proceedings which have already been opened against Hess--the Court
has to decide on the question whether the defendant is capable of being
heard or not, and also whether the condition are present which would make
him entirely irresponsible..

Perscnally, the Court has laid down these juristic principles in the
oﬁinion, and has asked those who are expressing theif opinion--the experts--
to say whether, firstly, the defendant is in a state in which he can plead
against the charge; secondly, about his mental stability; ind the question
here was formulated as to whether the defendant is mentally sound or not.

In respect, to question 1, is the defendant in a fit state to plead,
the Tribunal has asked the experts certain questions as to whether the
defendant is sufficiently in possession of his mental faculties in order
to understand the proceedings, and whether an adequate defense can be
underiaken --that is, whether he can understand evidence given,

The experts to whom this task was entrusted have examined Hess on
several different days and given thelr expert opinion to the Tribunal, I,
as his defense counsel must, because it is my duty, after having stﬁdied
these experts! opinions—-I couldntt do it sufficiently thoroughly, because
time was shorte-I personally, after having looked at these documents, and in
conjunction with my experience with Defendant Hess in almost daily discussions,
am of the opinion that the Defendont Hess is not capable of pleading.

I therefore consider it my duty, and I feel forced to make the follow-
ing application:

Firstly, I should ask that the proceedings against Hess be temporarily
quashed; secondly,‘in case his inability to plead should be admitted by the
Tribunal, I should request the Tribuncl not to carry‘out the proceedings if
the Defendant is not there, But in case the Tribunal should consider Hess
fit to plead, I should ask for an arbitral expert opinion in arder to decide
the question,

Before I come to the reasons for my application, I should like fo say,
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on behalf of the Defendant, that he, Hess himself, thinks he is fit to plead
and would like to tell the Court so himself,

I would now like to give the reasons for my application:

If my defendant--my client, rather--should not be fit to plead, I should
like the proceedincs against Hess to be temporarily auashed.

T should like to refer to the opinions clready submitted to the Tribunal,
The experts come to the following result--I should like to call one of them
the main expert. This was given by English, Soviet, and American experts,
bearing the date of 15 November, 1945. 1 should like to cite textually from
this, In this opinion it is said that the capacity of the Defendant Hess is
reduced. That is to say, his capzcity to defend himself and to face a
witness and to understand the evidence., I have cited this formulation
beczuse it is closest to the question put to the experts by the Tribunal,

The opinion says that even if Hess! amnesia does not prevent the
defendant from understanding what is geing on about him and to follow the
proceedings in Court—- |

THE PRESIDENT (Interposing): Would you speak a little more slowly?
The interpreters are not able to interpret so fast,

Would you also refer us especially to those parts of the medical
reports to which youvwish to draw our attention?

Do you understand what I said?
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DR. Von ROHRSCHEIDT: Yes.

I should like to observe that I haven't got the exact
quotations according to the pages of the English text, as I only have
the German transiation, so I can only do it as I have just said.

The first quotation—-

THE PRESIDENT (interposing ): 7You can read the words in
German, and they will be translatecd into English.,

Which report are you referring to?

DR. von ROHRSCHEIDT: For the gquotation that I gave I was
referring to the expert opinion which was given on the 1lLth November
1945, which was drawn up by the English, Soviet and Américan delegations,
and which included the report of the 17th of November 1945, What I
quoted was the following -— may I repeat it?

The passage runs: "The capability of the Defendant Hess is
reduced in respect of being able to defend himself, to face a witness,
and to understand the details of the evidence given."

THE PRESIDENT: Can you say which of the doctors you are
quoting?

DR, von ROHRSCHEIDT: It is the report which, in my copy, is
dated the 1lhth of November 1945, and, as I said, was presumably signed
hy Seviet, American and English doctors.

Unfortunately, the original copy I did not receive again
yesterday evening after I had given it back. That is, I was not able
to obtain the original again.

THE PRESIDENT: Have the English Prosecutors got a CODYs
and. ean you tell ns which it ig?

SIR DAVID MAXWELL FYFE: I think I am in the same difficulties
as your Lordship, I have copies of four medical reports. At the end
of the document headed "Order", it says, "Copies of four medical reports

are attachede"

The first one of these is signed By three English doetors on

the 19th of November,

The second is signed by three American and a French doctor,

“
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dated the 20th of November,
There is a repcrf signed by three Soviet doctors, dated the

17th of November,

There is one signed by three Soviet doctors and the French
doctor dated the 16th of November,

These are the cnly ones which I have with the Court's order,

THE PRESIDENT: Yes.

I don't know what this report is that you are referring.to.

SIR DAVID MAXWELL FYFE: Dr, von Rohrscheidt seems tc have an
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THE PRESIDENT: Dr. von Rohrscheidt, have you got the four reports
which are really before us? I will read them out to you:

The first one I have got in my hand is the 19th of November, 1945,
by Lord Moran, Dr. Reece, and Dr. Ruddock. Have you got that? That is
the English report.

DR. von ROHRSCHEIDT: I only have this report in the German translation
and not in the original.

THE PRESIDENT: But if you have got it in the German translation, that
is quite good enough.

Then the next one is dated the 20th of November, 1945, by Dr. Delay,
Dr. Nolan Lewis, Dr. Cameron and Colonesl Paul Schroeders

Have you got that?

DR. von ROHRSCHEIDT: Yes, I have that one.

THE PRESIDENT: That is two.

Then, the next one is dated the 16th of November, and is signed by
threc Soviet doctors and cne French doctor, Dr. Delay, dated the 16th of
November. Have you got that?

Then there is another report of the 17th, signed by the three Soviet
doctors gl one, without the French doctor.

Now, will you refer to the passages in those reports upon which you
rely?

There is another report by the two English doctors which is practically
the sames That is the one 1 have already referred to, thﬁt does not contain
the name of Lord iforan on it, dated the 19th of Novembers

DR. von ROHRSCHEIDT: May the Tribunal please, I think I can shorten
this speech to the Tribunal., My view is that all the experts! opinions
agree that the capability of the Defendant Hess to defend himself, to face-
a witness, and to understand the details of the evidence given -- perhaps

I should keep exactly to these words in my exposition:-
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If we assume that all the medical opinions are agreed that the
defendant Hess is reduced in his capacity for defense, I should, in
my capacity as his defense counsel, be convinced that the ability
to plead of the defendant Hess should be negatived. The reduction
of the capability of the defendant in his defense, which is recognized
as a mental defect, as amnesia, rccognized by all the experts, shows
s mental condition of a mixed kind but anyhow a mental defect, so he
should not be considered as fit to plead.

I am of the opinion that this statement made by the medical
experts shows, as was stated in the question to the experts, that
on account of this mental defect, the amnesia, proper defense for
the defendant Hess is not possible., The opinions also assume
that the defendant is not actually insane, That is not the
important point at the moment because according to the medical
opinion it is affirmatively stated, in my opinion, thaﬁ the
defendant is not in a condition to follow everybthing in
consequence of the reduction of his mental capacitye.

I, personally -- and I think my own opinion agrees with
the medical opinion -- think that the defendant is quite incapable
of making himself understood to the extent that one would expect from
a mentally normal person, to the extent that one would expect and
demand from a mentally normal person.

I consider that the defendant -- I am basing this on my own
experience with him -- is not capable of understanding what the
Tribunal says to him in such a manner as is neccssary for his
defense, because his memory is very unreliable.,  Through his
loss of memory he knows neither events which have happened in the
past nor the persons who were associated with him in the paste.

I therefore am of the opinion that the opposite opinion of the
defendant himself, namely, that he is fit to plead, is irrelevant,
As the reduction of the defendant's capacity, according to medical

opinion, will not soon be improved, I am therefore of the opinion
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that the proceedings against Defendant Hess should be quashed.

Whether the treatment proposed by the medical experts, by
narcotic analysis, would bring improvement is not certain, nor in
what way nor at what time the health of the defendant can be
restored, The medical opinions reproach the defendant with
refusing to have such medical treatment. The defendant tells
me, on the contrary, that he would be4ready to undergo such
treatment, but he refused the treatment in this case because, first
of all, he thinks he is already fit to plead and therefore considers
siich a cure unneccessary, and also because he is an opponent of such
forceful methods, and finally because he is of the cpinion that such
forced operation just at this time might make him unfit to plead,
that is to say, would rather exclude him from the proceedings, which
is Jjust what he wishes to avoid,

If the defendant is not capable of pleading, incapable of
defending himself, as medical opinion says, and if this state is likely
to last for a long time, this would be a2 condition for temporary
suspension of the proccedings against him,

My second application: In case this Tribunal should allow my
application and declare the defendant Hess unfit to plead, then,
according to Article 12 of the Charter, it is possible to proceed
against the defendant in absentia. Section 12 provides that the
Tribunal has the right to proceed against a defendant in his absence
if he cannot be found, or if this is in the interests of justice or
other reasons, Is it then in the interests of justice to proceed
against the defendant in absentia ? In my opinion, it is not in
accoraance with objective justice if actual proofs are available, as
they are here, that the defendant's capacity is reduced because of
illness and he is hindered in defending himself personally,

Such terrible crimes are laid at the door of the defendant that
even the death penalty is to be expected, It is therefore

incompatible with objective justice if medical experts say he is not

vl
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capable of defending himself, And according to Paragraph 12 of
the Charter, this right in Paragraph 16 of the Charter provides
for a defense and also the possibility of bringing personal
evidence for his defense, and cross exanining any witness, and
this is most important for the defense and any exclusion of such
a possibility is, in my opinion, not right, Proceedings in

absentia would preclude all this, and therefore could not
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be considered just.

If the defendant is reduced in his capacity to defend himseif for
the recasons already stated, to such a degree then the defendant is not
in a position to give his Cdunsel the necessary information and then
to put his Counsel in a position to defend him in his absence.

As the charter has so ﬁrecisely laid down the rights of the
defendants to form their own defense, it seems to me as Defense Counsel
unjust to deprive the defendant of these rights because he is hindered
by reasons of illness from being there. The possibility of carrying
out proceedings in absentia against a defendant must surely bé Jooked
upon as an exception Which should only be applied against a defendant
if he wishes to avoid the proceedings. But defendant Hess has told
me and emphasized to me, and he will probably do it to the Tribunal,
that he wishes to attend the proceedings, and he will certainly fecl
it is particularly unjust if he were ready to plead and should be
excluded and the procecdings were carried out ih absentia.

I thereforc request the Tribunal, if it should declarc the
defendant not competent to plead, that it not procecd in his absence.
Now, one more application: if the Tribunal, against my own
opinion and against the opinion which, in my view, is expressed in the‘
medical statements, should consider he is fit to plead, I should ask

for one more medical opinion and that this question may be
investigated once more, because I have seen from the medical state-
ments already available that the experts have only spoken with Hess
for a short time, in one case only for two days, and in any case for
a very short period. In a case of such world-wide importance it

seems to me necessary that a complete picture should be given.

LORN
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For this longer examinaticn would be neecessary, perhaps in a sultable
hospital, and he observed for weeks at a time., The experts themselves
'are obviously not quite sure whether the Defendant Hess is mentally ill,
even beyond what is admitted; that is, not éapable of pleading that he
is mentally deficient., This opinicn I have zained because all the
medical statements emphasize that the aceused is 120t considered fit to
plead, that he should be again subjscted to a psychiatric examination.

I think this suggestion should bz foilowed in accordance with the
suggestion made by the psychiatrists vho have already examined him, I
should therefore plead, if *he Tribuncl should consider the defendant fit
to plead, that the suggesti n of psychiatrists should be followed and shat
ancther opinion should be taken,

THE PRESIDENT: I want tc ask you one question: Is it not
consistent with all the medieal opinions that the defendant is capable of
understandinz the course of the proceedings, and that the cnly illness
from which he is suffering is his forgetfulness about what happened
before he flew to England?

DR. von ROHRSCHEIDT: WMr, Fresident, it is true that the experts
say that the Defendant Hess is capable of follewing the proceedings.

That is true. But they emphasize, on the other hand, that the defendant
is not capable of defending himself, In the manner in whiéh the |
questicns were put to the experts, the Tribunal asked the experts to state
their views on the following: Is the Defendant mentally sound or not?
This questicn is answered by all experts in the affirmative, that he is
mentally sounds But that does not exclude the fact that the Defencant
might at the moment be incapable of pleacing and in this respect the
experts again, referrin: to the questions put to them —- the Tribunal
would like to know whether the Defendant is capable of following the
course of the proceedings, can he carry cut adequate defense as a

witness and understand the evidence?

And_there I am of the opinicn that the experts, keepinz to the
questicn, give the answer that the defendant is not capable of carrying

out an acdequate defense, to put objections to the witness, or to follow
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the details of the evidence given. That is, I consider, contained in
all the experts' opinicns.

Looking at the opinion given by the French and American
delegations, if I may submit that to the Court, the date ZOth of
November, "as a result of our said investigaticns, we find that Hess
is suffering from hysteria and lcss of memory." Now comes this
passage, "The loss of memory is of such a kind that it will not disturb
his understanding of the proceedings, but in respect to questions about
his past, he will not respond and that would recduce the weight of his
defenses Therefore the capability of the accused for defense is
reduced.®

So from that he should be considered as not fit to plead.

And in the medical opinion of the French delezation, signed by Professor
Delay, that too says that the cdefendant can understand everything that
goes on around him, but that his amnesia has such an effect on his
capability of ecarrying out his defense, and to understand all the details
which refer to his past, that these facts must be looked upon as
disturbing. I considered that if cone interprets these statements as

the experts intended, the experts mean that the Defendant is nct insane,
he can follow the proceedings but he cannot defend himself because he

is suffering from a credible amnesia.

THE TRIBUNAL (Judge Biddle): Do you accept the cpinion of
the experts?

DR. von ROHRSCHEIDT: Yes,

THE TRIBUNAL (General Nikitchenko): I should like to know
the translations I should like toc draw the attention of the defense that
he is incorrectly referring to the experts' opinion of the Soviet experts
and French expert. Very good translating; not quite correctly., It
was a free translation.

DR. von ROHRSCHEIDT: May I read to the Tribunal what my
translation says? The.translatian was made here in the Bureau and
was given to me in this translations May I repeat that the translation
in my possession refers to the 16th of November 19L5, and was signed
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by the members of the Soviet delegatidé, and Professor Delay in Paris.
Sub-number three: :

"At the present moment the pefendant is not insane in the strict
sense of the word. His amnesia doeslhot prevent him from following
everything that is going on around him; But it affects his capability of
carrying out the defense and of rememb;ring all details of the past, and
might be disturbing.® |

THE PRESIDENT: That is all we wish to ask you; Does the
Chief Prosecutor for the United States wish to address the Tribunal?

MR. JUSTIGE JACKSON: I think'General Rudenko would like to
open discussion, if that is agreeabie;

THE PRESIDENT: Yes. Are you going on?

GENERAL RUDENKO: In conneciion with the statement made by the
defense, and as a result of the Doctors! opinion, I am inclined to say
the following: The condition of Hess wés exgmined by expertses These
experts appointed by the Tribunal have agreed that Hess is sane and can
answer for his actions. The Chief Prﬁsecutors have discussed the results
of this according to the orders of the Tribunal and have answered the
question of the Tribunal as follows:

One, we have no questicns and doubts about the Commission's

report, We are of opinion that
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Hess can be tried.

That is the opinion of the Prosecutors. We are finding
that the terms stated by the experts, that Hess can be considered
sane ==

THE PRESIDENT: (Interposing) Will you epeak nore slowly, please?

GENERAL RUDENKO: We considered that the experts' opinions are

quite sufficient for carrying on the decision of the Tribunal to
find Hess sane and subject to this Court, and we are asking the
Tribunal to sign accordingly the following statement; and the
Defense is asking to postpone the proceedings in view of his
illness and state. I must say that Defense is citing -~ 1
don't know why, not quite correctlys Tt is stated here by the
Defense that Hess is not able and he is in such condition that he
cannot defend himself and understand witnesses, and so On.

It is quite differently stated by the experts. The experts
state that Hess is suffering from amnesia and it will not completely
affect him in understanding the procéedings. It certainly won't
interfere with his understanding of the witnesses., I think that
the details of the past period, which Hess probably will not
remember; will not interest the Tribunal, The main points which
the experts have given in their reports, and which we do not doubt,
and which don't raise any doubts by the defense, is that Hess is’
sape, and if he is sane Hess must be tried, and according to this
I consider that the request of the Defense should be refused, -

STIR DAVID MAXWELL-FYFE: May it please the Tribunal:

It has been éuggested that I might say just a word, and as
shortly as the Tribunal desire, as to the legal conceptions which
govern the position with which the Tribunal and this Defendant are
placed at the present time.

The question before the Tribunal is whether this Defendant is
able to plead to the Indictment and should be tried at the present time,

If I might very briefly refer the Tribunal to the short passages
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in the report, which I submit are relevant, it might be useful at

the present time. Accordingzto the attachments to the Order, which
I have, the first report is that signed by the British Doctors on

the 19 November, 1945, And in that report, I beg the Tribunal to
refer to Paragraph 3, in'whicﬁ the signatories say: "At the moment
he is not insane in the stric£ sensec, His loss of memory will not
entirely interfere with his comprehension of the proceedings, but it
will interfere with his ability to make his defense and to understand
details of the past, which ariée in evidencea"

The next report is that signed by the American and French
Doctors, and in Paragraph One, the Tribunal will see: "We find, as
a result of our examinations and investigations, that Rudolf Hess
is suffering from hysteria, characterized in part by loss of memorye
The nature of this loss of memory is such that it will not interfere
with his comprehension of the proceedings, but it will interfere
with his response to questions relating to his past, and will
interferc with his undertaking his defense,"

If the Tribunal will proceed to the third -report, signed by
the Soviet Doctors, at the foot of Page 1, of the copy that I have,
there is a Paragraph beginning "psychologically--", which I submib
is of importance -- "Psychologically, Hess is in a state of clear
consciousness., He knows that he is imprisoned at N#irnberg, under
indictment as a war criminal; has read and, according to his own
words, is acquainted with the charges against him, . He answers
questions rapidly and to the point. His speech is cohercnt,

His thoughts formed with precision and correctness and they are
accompanied by sufficient emotionally expressive movements, Also,
there is no kind of evidence of paranoia. It should alsc be noted
here, that the present psychological examinations, which were
conducted by Lt, Gilbert, Doctor of Medicine, and of the testimony,
is that the intelligence of Hess is normal and in some instances,

above average. His movements arc natural and not forced,"
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Now, if I may come ﬁo the next report, I am sorry-- the report
which is signed by the three Soviet Doctors, and Professor Delay
of Paris, dated the 16, ﬁhich is the last in my bundle, and that
says in Paragraph’ 3: »

"At present he is not insane in the strict sense of the word.
His amnesia does not prevent him completely from understanding
what is going on around him, but it will interfere with his ability
to conduct his defense and to understand details of the past, which
would appear as factual data."

I refer, without quoting, because I do not consider that they
are of sufficient importance on this point, to the explanation of
the kind and reason of the amnesia which appeared in the Soviet
report, dated the 17 November, under the numbers One, Two and Three,
at the end of the report., But I remind the Tribunal that all these
reports unite in saying that there is no form of insanity.

In these circumstances, the question in English law, and I
respectfully submit that to the consideration of the Tribunal as
being representative of natural justice in this regard, is, in
deciding whether the Defendant is fit to plead, whether the
Defendant be insane or not, and the time which is relevant for
the deciding of that issue is at the date of the arraignment and
not at any prior time,

Different views have becn expressed as to the party on whom
the onus of proof lies in that issue, but the latter, and logically
the better view, is that the onus is on the Defendant, because it

is always presumed that a person is sane until the contrary is proved,
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Now, if I might refor the Court to onc case which I suspect, if I
may so us¢ my mind, has not been absent from the Court's mind, because
of the wording of the notice which we arc ciscussing today, it is the
case of Pritchard in 7 Carrington and Pike, which is rcferrcd to in
dArchibold, Criminal Plceding on thé 1943 edition, at page 1L47:

In Pritchard's case, where 2 prisoncr arraigned on an indictment
for felony appcared to be deaf, cdumb, and also of non-sane ninc, Baron
Alderson put three distinet issues to the Jury, dirceting the jury to
be sworn scparcicly on cach: Thether the prisoncr was mute, of malice,

r by the visitation of God, (2) “hather he was able to pleady (3)
whether he was sane or.note .nd on the last issue they wore directed to
inquire whether the prisoner wos of sufficient int;llect to comprchend
the course of the proceedings of the trial so as to moke a oroper defensey
to challenge a juror, that is, a member of the jury, to whom he micht

wish to object and to understond the <ctails of the gvidencas and he

dirceted the jury that if there was no cortain mode of communigating to

the prisoner the details of the evidence so that he could clearly understand

thom, anc be able tpoperly to make his defonse o the chorge' ag

G

the jury oucht to find thet he was not of sane minde

I submit to the Tribunal that the words there quoted, to comprehend

2

the course of the proeccdinss of the trial se os to make o proper defense'’,

cmphasize thot the moterial time, the only time wvhich should be considered,

is whether at the moment of wlca and of trial the fcfonant understands
his charge against him and the cvicence bty which it is suprorted.

THE PRTSTIDENT: ..nc does not rclate to his memory-at thet times

SIL D.VID L.X TLL~FYFE: Thot isy, I respectfully agrce with your
Lordship, it dess not rclate to his nemorye. It has never, in English
Jurisprudencc, to my knovledse, been held to be a bar cither to trial
or punishment, thot a person vho comprehends the charge and the evidence
has not ot 2 menmory as to whot happencd at the time, That, of course, is
entircly a differcnt coursc which “ocs net arisc cither on these rcports
of cf thig'awslicatichs

.8 to vhat wes the Jefendant's stats of nmind, no one herc susests
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that the defendant's state of minc a é the action charged were committed
was abnormal, 2nd it cdocs not come into this casc.

THE PRESIDENT: Hp will, it seems to me, be able to put forward his
amnesia as part of his defensee

SIR D.VID MaX BLL-FYFE: Cortainly my Lords

THE 1RESIDENT: And te say, "I should have been able to make a better
dofense if I had been able to remember wheot took place at the time's

SIR D.VID iLX TLL-FYFE: Yes, sir.‘ If I mi ht compare a very simple
case within my experience, and I am sure within the experience of members
of fhe Court where this has arisen scores of times, in Znglish eourts,
after a motor accicdent when 2 man is charged with manslau hter or doing
crovious bodily herm, he is often in the position of saying, "because of
the accident my memory is not .cod, or fails as to the exact charge"s
No one has ever su.gestad that it cculd be a matter of relief from ctiminal
responsibility, I hope that the Tritunal will not think that I have occup-
ied too much of their time, but I thou:ht it was useful just to present
the matter on the basis of the English law as I understand ite

THE TRIBUNAL (Mr, Biddle): So I can understand you, one of the tests

under the Pritcherd case is whether or not the defencant can make a proper

STR DAVID MiX ELI~FYFE: Tith the createst respect, will the coctor

read the precedin; wordse They s& When the orisoner was of sufficient
= 5, b B

intellect to comprchond the course of the proceccings of the trial so-as

THE TRIBUNAL (Mr. Biddle): And would you interpret that to mecan that

nrocecure of the trial

this defendant could mekce a propor defense uncder the
if you also find it a fact, which you I think, do not dispute, anc which
you quotec in fact, that althourh not insane —— now I quote: "He did not
understand, o rather his amncsia dees not prevent him completely from
uncerstanding, what is going on arounc him but it will intcrfere with his
ability to concuct his defensc, and understend details of the paste" You
don't think that is inconsistent with that finding?

SIR DAVID ILXWELL-FYFE: I am submitting it is pote It is part of his
defense, and it méy well be "I con't remembor anything atcut that at all',
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'nd he could actually say from my cencral behaviour or from other acts

which I undoubtedly have cone, it is extremcly unlikely thet I shouls cdo

jte That is the cdofense which is left to hime .nd he must takc that

defense, and it is my submissione

THE TRIZUNAL (Rre Biddle): So even if we assuie fopr the"
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purpose of argument that his samnesia istcomplete, and that he remembers
nothing that.occurred before the indictment though not understanding the
proceedings, you think he should be triéd?

SIR DAVID i/XWELL-FYFE: I submit He should be tried, That is my sub-
mission as a legal position., I especidlly didnt't discuss--of course the
Tribunal will appreciate that--I didn't discuss the quantum of amnesia here
because I am not putting that to the Tfibunal, I wanted to put before the
Tribunal the legal basis on which this application is posed. Therefore I
accept readily the extreme case which the leorned American judge put to me,

THE TRIBUNAL (Mr. DeVebres): I ask in what period the real amnesia of
Hess applies, He pretends to have forgotten facts which occurred more than
fifteen days ago. It may be simulztion or, as they say in the report, it
may be real simulation., I would like to know if according to the reports
Hess has really lost his memory of facts, which are referred to in the
Indictmcnt.

SIR DAVID MAXWELL-FYFE: The focts which are included in the Indictment,
the explanations that the doctors give as to his amnesia, are most clearly
set out in these paragraphs of the Soviet report, that is the third report
dated the 17th of November 1945, page two, and the numbered paragraphs one
to three., They say first:

"in the psychological personality of Hess there are no changes typical
of the progressive schizophrenic disease, That is, there are né changes
typical of a progressive double personality developing from which he
suffered periodically while in England. I am sorry, therefore, the delusions
from which he suffered periodically while in Englend can not be considered as
monifestations of a schizophrenic paranoia, and must be recognized as the
expression of a psychogenic paranoia reaction, that is, the psychologically
comprehensible reaction,™

Now I ask the learned French judge to note the next sentence., "Of an
unstable personality to the situation, the failure of his mission, arrests
and incarceration. Such is the interpretotion ‘of the delirious statements
of Hess in England as bespoken by the disappearance, appearance, and repeated

disappearance, depending on external circumstances which affected the mental
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state of Hess !

Paragraph two: "The loss of memory by Hess is not the result of some

kind of mental disease, but represents hysterical cmnesia, the basis of which

is a subconscious inclination towards self defense." Now I ask the learned
French judge to note zgain the next words: "As well as a deliberate and
conscinus tendency towards it. Such behavior often terminates when the
hysterical person is faced with an unavoidable necessity of conducting him-
self correctly. Thereforec the amnesia of Hess may end upon his being brought
to trial,

Three: Rudolf Hess, prior to his flight to.England, did not suffer from
any kind of insanity, nor is he now suffering frem it, At the present time
he exhibits hysterical beh=vicr with signs of;—and again I dsk the learned
French judge to note this point--with signs of a conscious intenticnal
similated character which does not exonerate him from responsibility under
the Indictment."

The last sentence is a matter for the Tribunal, But in these circum-
stances it would be impossible to say that the amnesia may continue to be
complete or is entirely unconscious, That is deliberately avoided by the
learned doctors., Therefcre the prosecution do not say that that is the cuse,
but they do say that even if it were complecte, the legal basis which I have
suggested to the Court is a correct one for action in the matter.

THE PRESIDENT: Thank you, Sir David., Would Doctor Rohrscheidt like
to add anything by way of reply? One moment: Mr. Justice Jackson, I
gathered from what Sir David said that he was speaking on behalf oflyou

Y or the Frenoh prosecution, is that correct?

- JUSTTAR JACKSON: I Antend te-adopt- all that he szid, I would only
add a few more Words, if 1 may.

THE PRESIDENT: Doctor Rohrscheidt, Mr, Justice Jackson has something
to say first of all.

JUSTICE JACKSON: I adopt 21l thot hes been said, and will not repeat.

We hove three applications before the Tribunal, One is for another examin-
ation, I will spend very little time on that. I think that we have made,

up to this point with these axaminations, medical history in having seven
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psychictrists from five nations who are completely in agreement, An achieve-
ment of that kind is nct likely to be risked.

The only reascn suggested here is that a relatively short time has been
devoted to the examinntion, but I suggest to your Henors that that is not
the situation, because there have been o allable the examinations and obser-
vations and medical histary during the incarceration of Hess in England,
extending from 1941, znd the reports of the psychiatrists of the American
Forces since he was brought to Nurnberg, and they all agree, So that there
is a more ccmplete medical history in this case than in most cases.

The next application was =s to trial in absentia, I shall spend no
time on that, for there seems to be no occasion for trying Hess in absentia
if he shouldn't be tried in his presence, If he is unable to be tried why

he simply shouldn't he tried at all, That is all I can see to it,
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I would like to ecll your attention to the one thing
in;all this, the . opnc thing, 'on which any case ¢an be . nede
here' for postponcrients That is-the stobenent with which we
ekl cgpeels That-Hesst eonglition will Jnterfere with - his
rcsponse to cucstions relating to his past ond will inters=
fore with his undortoking nis dcfpﬁse. How, I think it will
tubericre with his deolciee 11 he pDoreists - ipn ity ang L ao
sureinanceolnsed shagververye i Bfieuwl §iits slee - BUE Hess ha
rcfused tho treitiient; agnd T hove filed vith Bhe: gourt the
report of Lnjor Kclly, Gho ancriocn psyehiatrist., g8 whose
carc he was plaeccd ipmedictely after he was brouglielcees

Hc hes refusced every single trettment that haSshiees
suggesteds He hos refuscd to submit to the ordinary things
that we subpit to every day, bloed tests, examinations, and
eoys he widl-8subiil to nothinz unbil after the Ltrialy The

cdication which was suggested te bring him out cof this
hysterical situaticon--cvery psychiatrist agreés thal this
18 girply a hysterical situation if it is genuine atl alles
was the uge of intravenous drugs of the barbital scries,
cither sodiun anytal or sodiun phenotal, the ordinary sedap
tivo that you perhaops toke on o gleeplcess nighte . /e did
nobt dore cdzinister thetl, 0 be perfovtly candid, against
hig objeetion, beeause we felt that however ha rnléss—-und
in over o thousand cascs obsecrved by iicjor Kelly there has
becen no ill cffect although sonc cases arc reported where
therc has-=vic felt that if should be struck by lightning a
nonth aftervard it would still be charged that sonething

. eaused his deobh; and we did not desir

(‘{,

ot e hWad dole bo
to Ainpose aay such trectpcenl upon Hif

But I respectfully suggest that a pan cannct stand
afar Prom the Court and asgsert Bhat his conesia is o defels

to his being tried, and at the saie tine refuse $he sinple
681~
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nedical exovuxputs which all agree nlbht be useful,

He is in the voluntecr class with his annesia. In
England, as the recports show, he is reported to have neodes
the statecnent that his . earlicr anncsia was sisulateds He
canac out of this state during @ period in England, then
wellb back to ils 15 is pow hichly scleebive.  That is to
say, you can't be sure what Hess will rerienber ané what ho
Wwill aob remerbers  His apnegia is not -of the Lupd which
is & complste blotting out of the porsonclity, of the type

.

we: feol thot sp lope ag Hoss pefuses the crdinary,

.

simple expedicnts, even if his anncsia is gonuine, that he

@

is not in o positiocn tc condtinue to assert that he nust
zot be brought €9 trisls /e think he should be tried; not
in absentia but in thesc proecedings.

Thz TRIBUNLL (Mr. Biddle): Isn't Hess asserting thot
he wants to be tried?

JUSTICE JnCKSON: l/iell, I uon't know cbout that., He
hes becn JntcrroQLtod ana interrogated by us, as have th
cc-defondants, and I wouldn't attenpt to say what he would
now say- he wenbse I hoven't cbscrved that it is causing
hiz any grest distress. Fropkly, T ccubl very pgeh 4f he
would like to be absent, but I wouldn't atteipt to speak

fer g

%

& PReSIDENT - Dius Mrs' Dibiaeh ~idsh Bo aad ¢ anythiing®?

DR. ROHRSCHEIDT: sust say a few words to the

-

Tribunal te nake niy peint of view clear once more?
»£8 defense counsel of the defendant Hess this is 't

point of wiews Pirst, factually, the defendant Hess,

m
D
(0]
<O
®)
i
ct
0
O
+y
*
-
Q
(ea)

ggcopding 4o th Loclors whieh all agree,

Nas e nentall defech,



Secondly, tie accusced Hess is suffering from annesia,
which again 2ll nedical oxperts adnit exists. This is nere-
1y reparked in the report, whether this crnesia is baranoize
or psychogcrnctice. Thoy are all agreed that this annesia is
on a pathological basis. The result is ta-t the Gcfeondant

is not inséne but has 2 riental dofoets  Frop that oillcrges,

I think, in a legal scnse
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that the defendant cannot state.that he cennot be made responsible for

his actions, but presumebly, when the deeds were committed he was certainly
not mentally insene. But there is a difference, according to German law

at eny rate, whether the defendant is a2t the moment in a position to

follow the trial, that is, whether he is fit to plead. This question
should, in my opinion, as I have already said, on the basis of the

medical reports, be negativated. He is not capable of being tried.

The Tribunal may be doubtful of ﬁhe answers of the experts. It
is difficult to understend whether the defendant is actually restricted
in his capability of defending himself or whether he cen have an ade-
quate defense. 1 think that possibly this point should be stressed: The
los§ of memory is affirmed by all the experts, and it would seem to me
thet he is not capable of making adequete defenses

One other point: He may be able to defend himself, and secm exter-
nally, he can follow the course of the proceedings, but he cannot defend
himsélf adequately, that is, in the same way aé a2 person who is in full
possession of his normal senses.

Moy I perheps add one word. I have already explained‘that the defend-
ant has expressed the wish to me that he would like to attend the trial,
as he does not feel himself unfit to plead, but that, in the opinion of
the defense, is completely irrelevant,

In respect of the consequences és foreseen by the American prosecutor,
that the defendant has refused to be treated by narcotic means, that is
not a guestion of truculence, but he refused it because he was afraid
that the intravenous injections at this particular moment might, in his
weakened state, make him iﬁcapable of following the proceedings, which is
exactly what he did not want.

I have already mentioned that he himself thinks he is sane, and
therefore he did not need any intravenous trestment. The defendant
Hess alsb told me that he has an internal abhorrence of such means, and
Hess, in the unhappy times of the National Socialist regime, was always
for the natural methods of healing. He even founded the Rudolf Hess
Hospital in Dresden, which 1is conducted on natural, not medical, means.

JUSTICE JLCKSOW: May I make one observation, Your Honors?
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THE PRESIDENT: TYes.

JUSTICE Ji.CKSOM: The argument illustrates the selectivity of the memory
of which I spoke to you. Hess apparently can inform his counsel aboub
his attitude toward this particular matter during the National Socialist
regime., His counsel is able to tell us how he felt about medical things
during the National Socialist regime, but when we ask him about anything

in which he
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participated that might have a criminal aspect, the memory becomes
bade I hope that the Court has not overlooked the statement of the
matters that he does well recollect.

DR. ROHRSCHEIDT: May I make a correction?

THE FRESIDENT: It is unusual to hear counsel in a second reply,
but as Mr. Justice Jackscon has spoken again we wiil hear what you
have to say.

DR. ROERSCHEIDT: I would merely like tc cbserve that I was
misunderstood. It was not the defendant who told me that he was an
adherent of natural medicine, and in such a way proved that he had
retained his memory, but it was I who, from my own memory, ascertained
this, and I know that he was. I gave that as my opinion and my ex-
perience in order to show that he has an intellectual aversion to
medical operations, but, this rémark was not based on memory of the
defendant Hess but on my OWIl MEMOTY .

THE PRESIDENT: Dr. Rohrscheidt, the Tribunal would 1ike, if
you consider it proper, that the Defendant Hess should state what his
views on this quebtion are.

DR. ROHRSCHEIDT: As his defense counsel, I have certainly
nothing to say against it, and I think it would be the defendant's
cwn wish, and the Tribunal would then be in a position to judge what
mental state the defendant is in. He can speak as to whether he con-

giders himself fit to plead from where he alie
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THE DEFENDANT HESS: Mr, President, I would like to say this:
At the beginning of the trial of this afternoon's proceecdings I
gave my defense counsel a note that I am of the opinion that these
proceedings could be shortened if one would allow me to speak myself.
What I say is as follows:

In order to anticipate any possibility of my being declared
incapable of pleading, although I ém'willing to take part in the
rest of the proceedings with the rest of them, I would like to
give the Tribunal the following declaration, although I originally
intended not ﬁo make this declaration until a later point in the
proceedings:

My memory is again in order., The reasons why I simulated
loss of memory were tactical, In fact, it is only that my capacity
for concentration is slightly reduced, But in consequence of that,
my capacity to follow the trial, my capacity to defend myself, to
put questions to witnesses or even to answer questions-~these, my
capacities, age not influenced by that,

I emphasize the fact that I bear the full responsibility for
everything that I have done or signed as signatory or co-signatory.,
My attitude, in principle, is that the Tribunal is not competent--
1s not affected by the statement I have Jjust made., Hitherto in
conversations with my official defense counsel T have maintained
my loss of memory. He was, therefore, in good faith when he
asserted I lost my memory,

THE PRESIDENT: The trial is adjourned.

(Whereupon at 1830 hours the hearing of the Tribunal adjourned

to reconvene at 14,00 hours on 1 December 1945).
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INTERNATIONAL MILITARY TRIBUNAL

. UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, THE FRENCH REPUBLIC,
iﬁﬁ UNITED KINGDOM OF GREAT BRITAIN AND NORTHERN IRELAND
nd THE UNION OF SOVIET SOCIALIST REPUBLICS
- against -
AN WILHELM GORING, et al

Defendants

ORDER

1. Counsel for the defendant Hess has made application to the
T *bunal to appoint an expert designated by the medical faculty of
tre University of Zurich or of Lausanne to examine the defendant
Tess with reference to his mental competence and capacity to stand
srizl. This application is denied.
5, The Tribunal has designated a commission composed of the
“clliowing members:
Eugene Krasnuchkin, M.D., Professor Psychiatry,
hMedical Instltute of Moscow, assisted by
Bugene Sepp, M.,D,, Professor Neurology,
iledical Institute of Moscow
Member, Academy of Medical Sciences, USSR; and
Nicolas Kurashov M.D., Professor of Medicine
Medical InotLtute of Moscow,
Chief Internist, CommlsSarlat of Public Health, USSR.
lord Moran, M.D. F.R.C,P,
Pres1dent of the Roayl College of Physicians, assisted by
Dr. T, Reece, M,D, F.R.C.P,
Chief Gonsultant Psychiatrist to the War Office, and
Dr. George Ruddock, M,D. F.R.C.P.
Director of heurology to the London Hospital and
Chief Consultant Neurologist to the lar Office
Dr. Nolan D, C., Lewis, assisted by
Dr., D. Ewen Cameron and
Col. Paul Schroeder, M.D,
Professor Jean Delay
The Tribunal has requested the commission to examime the defend-
21t Eess and furnish a report on the mental state of the defendant
-~ %h particular reference to the guestion whether he is able to
% e his part in the trisl, specifically: (1) Is the defendant

s1le to plead to the indictment? (2) Is the defendant sane or not,



2 °0RT on Rudolf Hess, telephoned from London.

#The undersigned, having seen and examined Rudolf Hess, have

~n+3 to the following conclusion:-

-, There are no relevant physical abnormalities.

- . His mental state is of a mixed type, He is an unstable‘man,
=~ 3 what is technically called a psychopathic personality. The
—~3dsnce of his illness in the past four years, as presented by

-5 of us who has had him under his care in England, indicates that
ha has had a delusion of pcisoning, and other similar paranoid ideas.

Partly as a reaction to the failure of his mission, these
sbnormalities got worse, and led to suicidal attcmpts.

Tn addition, he has a markcd hysterical tendency, which has
1ed to the development of various symptoms, notably a loss of
memory, which lasted from November 1943 to June 1944, and which
»3sisted all efforts at treatment. A second loss of memory began
in February 1945 and lasted till the present. This amnesic sympton
17111 eventually clear, when circumstances change. »

7. At the moment he is not insane in the surict sense. His loss
oF memory will not entirely interfere with his comprehension of the
croceedings, but it will interfere with his ability to make his
defence, and to understand details of the past, which arise in
avidence.
4, We recommend that further evidence should be obtained by
narco-anelysis and that if the Court decides to proceed with the
Trisl, the question should afterwards be reviewed on psychiatric
grounds.""

(Sgd) Moran
Dated 19th November, 1945 J. Rees, M.D,, FLROLF,

George Riddoéh
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and on this last issue the Tribunal wishes to be advised aether
the defendant is of sufficient intellect to comprehend the course
of the proceedings of the trial so as.to make a proper defense, to
challenge a witness to whom he might wish to object and to under-
Sand the details of the evidence,
3+ The examiners have presented their reports to the Tribunal

the form which commends itself to them. It is directed that
. >ies of the reports be furnished to each of the Chief Prosecutors
2 to defense counsel., The Tribunal will hear argument by the
“ozecution and by defense counsel on the issues presented by the

s orts on Friday, November 30 at 4 PN,

INTERNATIONAL MILITARY TRIBUNAL

/s/ Geoffrey Lawrsnce
Geoffrey Lawrence
President

-sated Nurnberg, Germany this

<

25k day of November, 1945

Copies of four (4) Medical Reports
attached



20 November 1945
MEMORANDUM TO: Brigadier General Vm. L. Mitchell,
: General Secretary for the International Military
Tribunal,

In response to request of the Tribunal that the defendant
Rudolf Hess be examined, the undersigned psychiatrists examined
Rudolf Hess on Novembef,lSth and 19th 1945 in his cell in the
Military Prison in Nurnberg,

The following examinations were made: physical, neurological
and psychological.

In addition, documents were studied bearing information concern~
ing his personal development and career. Reports coneerning the |
period of his stay in England were scrutinized. The results of all .
?sychological, special psychometric examinations and observations
carried out by the prison psychiatrist and his staff were studied,
information was also derived from the official interrogation of
ﬁhe defendant on November 14th and November 16th 1945,

: (1) We find, as a result of our examinations and investigations,
that Rudolf Hess is suffering from hysteria characterized in part 35
by loss of memory. The nature of this loss of memory is such that
( 1t will not interfere with his comprehension of the proceedings, but

it will intorfere with his response to questions relating to his past:
and will interfere with his undertaking his defense, 1

In addition there is a conscious exaggeration of his loss
of memory and a tendency to exploit it to protect himself against
examination.

(2) We consider that the existing hysterical behaviour which
the defendant reveals, was initiated as a defense against the circums
stances in which he found himself while in ingland; that it has now
become in part habitual and that it will continue as long as he re-
mains under the trhreat of imminent punishment, even though it may
interfere with his undertaking a more normal form of defense,

(3) It is the unanimous conclusion of the undersigned that
Rudolf Hess i not insane at the present time in the strict sense
of the word,

(s} D. Ewen Cameron (s) Jean Delay

DR. D. EVEN CAMERON DR. JEAN DELAY
Professor of Psychiatrie Professor of Psychiatrie at the
MeGill University Faculty of Medicine in Paris
(s) Paul L, Schroeder (s) Nolan D.C, Lewis

COL. PAUL L. SCHROEDER DR. NOLAN D.C. LEWIS
A U.S. Neuropsychiatric Professor Psychiatry,

Consultant Columbia University



RECORD OF EXAMINATION OF RUDOLF HESS

Accordlng to the information obtained on Nov., 16, 1945, duz

she interrogation of Rosenberg who had seen Hess 1mmedlately bc:;_J

13.}a+ters flight to Englnd, Hess gave no evidence of any abnor-
11ty either in appearance or conversation. He was, as usual,
uiet and composed. Nor was it apparent that he might have been

-Srvous. Prior to this, he was a calm person, habitually suffer-

=

3

ng pains in the region of the stomach.

As can be judged on the basis of the report of the English
sychiatrist, Doctor Rees, who had Hess under observation from the

ae

“irst days of his flight to England, Hess, after the airplane crash
.~3closed no evidence of a brain injury, but, upon arrest and in-

PN

iwrceration, he began to give expression to ideas of persecution,
.o feared that he would be poisoned, or killed and his death reprc-
‘cnted as a suicide, and that all this would be done by the Engiisl.

—el

auer the nypnotic influence of the Jews, TFurthermore, these delu-
‘ons of persccution were maintained up to the news of thv cata-

mope suffered by the German Army at Stalingrad when the manifssta-
.ons were replaced by ammesia, Acooralng to Doctor Rees, the de-
3ions of persecution and the ammesia were observed not to take

—8cc simultancously. Furthermore, therec were two attempts at sui-

de. A knife wound, inflicted during the second attempt, in the
.In near the heart gave evidence of a clearly hysterico-~demonstrea-

. ¥e character, After this there was again observed a change fron
nesia to delusions of persecution, and during this period he wrote
.at he was simulating his ammnesia, and, finally, again entered in%o
state of amncsia which has been Drolongud up to the present,

According to the examination of Rudolf Hess on Nov., 14, 1945,
‘e following was disclosed,

Hess compkains of frequent cramping pains in the region of the
;omach which appear indepsndent of the taking of food, and head-
s in the Trontal lobes during mental strain, agd, finally, or
S55 Of memory.

In general his condition is marked by a pallor of the skin and
noticeable reduction in food intake,

Regarding the internal organs of Hess, the pulse is 92, and &
sukening of the heart tonme 18 noticeable, There has been pno change

°

the condition of the other internal organs,

Concerning the neurological aspect, there are no symptoms of
srende dmpairment of the- nervous systbm.

Psvohologically, Hegss is in & state of clear conseciolusness;
Jws that he is in prison at Nurenberg under indictment as a war
ininal; has read, and, according to his own words, is acquainted
L the charges against him, He answers questions rapidly and to
3 point. His speech is coherent, his thoughts formed with pre-
‘zion and correctness and they are accompanied by sufficient
~otionally expressive movements.  Also, there 1is no kind of evi-
-nce of paralogism, It should also be noted here, that the prescnt
svchological examination, which was conducted by Lieut. Gilbert,

Do, bears -out the tustlmony that the intelligence of Hess 1is
>rmal and in some instances above the average. His movements are
~tural and not forced.

e



Jh_. | ;

He has expressed no delirous fancies nor does he give any
delirious explanation for the painful sensation in his stomach
oy the Joss of memory, as was previously attested to by Doctor
Rees, namely, when Hess ascribed them to poisoning. At the pre-
sent time, to the question about the reason for his painful sensa-
tions and the loss of remory, Hess answsrs that this is for the
doctors to know, Acecording to iis own 23gertlions, he can remember
almost nothing of his former 1irs. i‘re gape in Hess! memory are
ascertained only on the basis of the subjactive changing of his
testimony about his inability to remeubsr iiLis or that person or
event given at different times. What he krows at the present time
ig, In his own words, what he allegedly learned only recently from
the information of those around him and the films which have been
shown him,

On Nov., 14 Hess refused the injection of narcotics which werse
offered for the purpose of making an analysis of his psychological
condition. On Nov, 15, in answer to Prof. Delay's offer, he de-
finitely and firmly refused narcosis and explained to him that, in
general, he would take all measures to cure his amnesia only upon
completion of the trial,

All that has been exposed above, we are convinced, permits, of
the interpretation that the deviation from the norm in the behavior
of Hess takes the following forms:

1. In the psychological personality of Hess there are no
changes typical of the prcgressive schizophrenic disease, and there-
fore the delusions, from which he suffered periodically while in '
England, cannot be considered as manifestations of a schizophrenie
paranoia, and must be recognized as the expression of a psychogenic
paranoic reaction, that is, the Dsychclogically comprehensible re-
action of an unstable (psyohologically) personality to the situation
(the failure of his mission, arrest and incarceration). Such an in.
terpretation of the delirious statements of Hess in England is :
bespoken by their disappearance, appearance and repeated disappear-
ance depending on external circumstances which affected the mental
state of Hess,

IT. The loss of memory by Hess is not the result of some
kind of mental disease but reprcsents hysterical amnesia, the basis
of which is a subconscious inclination toward sclf-defense as well
as a deliberate and conscious tendency toward it. Such behavior
often terminates when the hysterical person is faced with an un-
avoidable necessity of conducting himself correctly. Therefore,
the amnesia of Hess may end upon his being brought to trial.

ITI. Rudolf Hess, prior to his flight to England, did not
suffer from any kind of insanity, nor is he now suffering from it.
At the present time he exhibits hysterical behavior with signs of
& conscious-intentionel (simulated¥ character, which does not
exoncrate him from his responsibility under the indictment.

Professor Krasnushkin, Doctor of Medicine (signed)

Professor Sepp, Honorary Scientist, Regular (signed)
Member of the Academy of Medicine

Professor Kurshakov, Doctor of Medicine, (signed)

Chief Theraputist of the Commissariat of Health
gf the U85 .8y

17 November 1945
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In pursuance of the assignment by the Tribunal, we, the
medical experts of the Sovict Delegation, together with the
physicians of the English Declegation and in the presence of one
representative of the American Medical Delegation, have examined
Rudolf Hess and made a report on our examinatiom of Mr. Hess to-

gether with our conclusions and interpretation of the behavior of
Mres Hesgis

The statement of the general conclusions has been signed only
by the physicians of the Soviet Delegation and by Professor Delay,
the medical expert of the French Dcelegation.,

Appendix: 1I) Conclusions and 2) the Report on the examination
of My Hosss

Professor Krasnushkin, Docbor of Medicine (signed)

Professor Sepp, Honorary Scientist, Regular
Member of the Acadecmy of Medicine (signed)

Professor Kushakov, Doctor of Medicine, Chief

Therapeutist of the Commissariat of
Health of the U.S.S.Re (signed)

November 17, 1945
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~ " ""After observation and an examination of Rudolf Hess the under-
signed have reached the following conclusions:

l. No essential physical deviations from normality were
observed,

2. His mental conditions are of a mixed type. He is an un-
stable person, which in technical terms is called a psychopatic
bersonality., The data concerning his illness during the period of
the last four years submitted by one of us who had him under ob-
servation in England, show that he had a delusion of being poisoned
and other similar paranoic notions.

Partly as a reaction to the failure of his mission there, the
abnormal manifestations inecreased and led to attempts at suicide.
In addition to the above mentioned he has noticeable hysterical ten-
dencies which caused a development of wvarious symptoms, primarily,
of amnesia that lasted from November 1943 to June of 1944 and re-
sisted all attempts to be cured.

The amnesia symptom may disappear with changing eircumstances.

The second period of ammesia started in February of 1945 and
has lasted up through the present,

3. At present, he is not insane in the strict sense of the
word, His amnesia does not prevent him completely from understand-
ing what is going on around him but it will interfere with his
ability to conduct his defense and to understand details of the past
which would appear as factual data. ¢

4. To clarify the situation we recommend that a narco-analysis
be performed on him and, if the Court decides to submit him to trial,
The problem should be subsequently re-examined again from a psy- A
chiatric point of view,

The conclusion reached on November 14 by the physicians of the
British Delegation, Lord Morn, Dr. T, Rees and Dr. G, Riddoch, and
the physicians of the Soviet Delegation, Professors Krasnushkin,
Sepp, and Kurshakov, was also arrived at on November 15 by the
representative of the French Delegation, Professor Jean Delay.,

After an examination of Mr, Hess which took place on November
15, 1945, the undersigned Professors and experts of the Soviet
Delegation, Krasnushkin, Sepp and Kurshakov, and Professor Jean
Delay, the expert from the French Delegation, have agreed on the
following statements

Mr. Hess categorically refused to be submitted to narco-analy-
sis and resisted all other procedures intended to effect a curae-of
his amnesia, and stated that he would agree to undergo treatment
only after the trial, The behavior of Mr. Hess makes it impossible
to apply the methods suggested in Paragraph 4 of the report of
November 14 and to follow the suggestion of that Paragraph in pre-
sent form.

Professor Krasnushkin, Doctor of Medicine (signed)
Professor Sepp, Honorary Scientist, Regular

Member of the Academy of Medicine (signed)
Professor Kurshakov, Doctor of Medicine, Chief (signed)

Theraputist of the Commissariat of Health of
the U.S.S.R'

Professor Jean Delay of the School of Medicine (signed)
in Paris

November 16, 1945
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RECORD OF EXANINATION OF RUDOLF HESS

mality either in appeerance of conversation, He was, as usual,
quiet and composeqd. Jor was it apparent theat he might have been
nervous. Prior to this, he was 2 calm person, habitually suffer-
ing pains in the region of the stomach,

first days of his Tlight te England, Hess, after the ailrplane crash,
disclosed no evidence of a brein injury, but, upon arrest and in-
carceration, he begen to give éxpression to idesas of persecution,
he feared that he would be poisoned, or killed and his death repre-
sented as a sulcide, and that al}l this would be done by the English
Tarder hypaotic influence of the Jews, Furthermore, these delu-
slens of pol'secutlon were maintaineqd up to the news of the cata-
strope surfered by the German Army at Stalingrad when the manifesta-
tions were replaced by amnesia, According to Doctor Rees, the de-
lusionsor Persecution and the amnesia were observed not to take
place simultaneously. Furthermore, there were two attempts at sui-
cide. A knife wound, inflicteq during the second attempt, in the
skin near the heart gave evidence of g elesrly hysterico-demonstra.
tive cheracter, Aftep this there was agein obscrved s change from
émnesia to delusions of persecution, ang during this period he wrote
that he was simulating his emnesia, and, finally, egain entered into
a state of amnesig which has been prolonged up to the present,

According to the examination of Rudolf Hess on Nov, 14, 1845,
the following was disclosed,

Hess complaing of frequent cramping pains in the region of the
stomach which appear independent of the taking of food, 2nd hesg-
aches in the frontal 1lobes during mentel strein, and, finally, of
loss of memor »

In general nig condition is markeq by 2 pallor of the skin ang
noticeable reduction in foog intake,

Regarding the internsl organs of Hess, the pulse is 92, ang g
weakening of the heart tone ig noticeable, There has been no change

Concerning the neurologieal espect, there are no Symptoms of
organic impairment of the nervous system,

continued on the next page,
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Record of oxamination of Rudolf Hess

Psychologically, Hess is in a state of clear consciousness;
knows that he is in prison =zt Nurenberg under indictmont a8 a war
criminal; has read, and, accerding to his own words, is acqueinted
with the charges against him. He answers questions rapidly end to
the point, His speceh is coherent, hisg thoughts formed with pre-
cision and correctness and they are =ccompanied by sufficient
emotionally expressive movements. /lso, there is no kind of evi-
dence of paralogism. It should also be noted here, that the present
psychological exeminetion, which was conducted by Lieut. Gilbert,
Ph. D., bears out the testimeny that the intelligence of Hess is
rormal and in some insteoncos sbove the average:; Hisg movements arec

Totumel =nad not foreced.,

He has expressed no delirious fancies nor does he give any
deliricus explenation for the painful sensation in his stomach
or the loss ofr memory, as was previously attested to by Doctor
Rees, namely, when Hess ascribed then topﬁs@nﬁng, At the pres-
sent time, to the question about the reason for his painful sensa-
tions and the loss of memory, Ness answers that this is for the
doctors to know, According to his own assortions, ho can remember
almost nothing of his former 116,  The gaps in Hess'! memnory are
ascertained only on the basis of the subjective changing of his
testimony about his inability to remomber this or that person or.
ovent given at diffepront times. Vhat he knows at the brescnt time
is, in his own words, what he allegedly loarned only recontly from
the information of those around him and the films which have been
shown him,

On Nov. 14 Hess recfuscd the injection of narcotics which wore
offered for the burpose of making an analysis of his bsychological
condition. On Nov. 15, in answer to Prof. Delay!'s offer, he de-
finitcly ang firmly recfuscd narcosis and explained to him that, in
gencral, ho would take all measures to cure his amnesia only upon
completion of the trial,

All that has been Cxposed above, we are convincod, permits, of
the interpretsion that the deviation from the norm in the behavior
of Hess takes the following forms:

is In the psychological bersonality of Hess thers are no
changos typical o3 tho Progressive schizophronic discase, and there-
fore the delusions, from which he suffered pcriodiaally while in
Lngland, cannot be considered as manifestations of 1 schizophrenic
paranoia, and must be rccognized as the CXpression of a pPsychogenic
Paranoic reaction, that 18, ths psychologically comprehensible re-
action of an unstable (psychologically)cpcpsohality”tO‘the situation
(the failure of his mission, arreost and incarceration). Such an ine
terpretation of the delirious statoments of Hoss in Englang is
bespoken by their disappoarance, appecarance and repecated disappocare
ancc depending on external circumstances which affected the mental
state of Hoss,

continued an next page.
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Rocord of gxamination of Rudalf Iloss
. II: The losg of memory by Hoss is not the rosult of some

| kind of mental discasc but revrcsents hysterical amnesia, the basis
of whieh 18 2 subconscioug inclination toward sclf-defense as woll
as a deliberate ang conscious tondeney toward 1t. Such behavior

© -often terminates when the hystcrical porson is faced with an un-

. -aveldable ncecssity or conducting himsclf corrcctly. Thercfore,
the amnesia of Hess may ond upon his being brought to trial,

IIT. DRudolf Hess, prior to his Tiioht 1o England, did not
suffer from any kind of insanity, nor is ho suffcring from it now.
At the prescnt time he oxhibits hystorical bchavior with signs of
3} conscious-intcntional (simulatod) character, which docs not
cxonerate him from his rosponsibility under the indictment,

Profcssor Krasnushkin, Doctor of Mcdicine (signed)

Profcssor Scpp, Honorarsy Scicntist, Regular (signed)
licmber of the Acadenmy of Modicine

Profcssor Kurshakov, Doctor of l'edicine, (signod)

Chicf Theraputist of the Cormissariat of Health
ol "the U. S.SeR.

17 Youvenhgr 1945’ /



INTERYATIONAL MILITARY TRIBUNAL

3 THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, THE FRENCH REPUBLIC
, _THE UNITED KINGDOM OF GREAT BRITAIN AND IIORTHERN IRELAND,
"and THE UNION OF SOVIET SOCIALIST REPUBLICS

- against -
HERIANN WILHELM GORING, ot al
Defendants

ORDER

1. Counsel for the defendant Hess has made application to the
Tribunal to appoint an cxport designated by the medical faculty of
the University of Zurich or of Lausanne to examine the defendant
Hess with reference to his mental competence and capaclty to stand
trial. This application is denied..

2. The tribunal has designated 2 commission composed of the
following mombers: |

Eugene Krasnuchkin, 1.D., Profecssop Psychiatry,

lledical Institute of lioscow, assisted by
Eugene Sepp, M.D., Professor Neurology

Medieal Institute of lNoscow

lember, Academy of ledical Sciences, USSR; and
Nicolas Kuraskov, M.D., Professor of Iledicine

Medical Institute of lloscow,

Chief Intcrnist, Commissariat of Publie Health, USSR.

Lord Moran, M.D. F.R.C.P. '

President of the Royal College of Physiclans, assisted by
Dr. T. Reece, M.D. F.R.C.P. :

Chief Consultant Psychiatrist to the War Offlice, and
Dr. George Ruddock, }.D, F.R.C.P.

Director of Neurology to the London Hospital and

Chief Consultant Neurologist to the War Office

Dr. Nolan D. C. Lewis, assisted by
Dr. D. Ewen Cameron and
Col. Paul Schroeder, M.D.

Professor Jean Delay

The Tribunal has requested the commission to examine the defend-
ant Hess and furnish a report on the mental state of the defendant
with particular recference to the question whether he is able to
take his part in the trial, specifically: (1) Is the defendant

aable to plead to the indictment? (2) Is the defendant sane or not,
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and on thls last issue the Tribunal wishes to be advised whether
the defendant is of sufficient intellect to comprehend the course
of the proceedings of the trial so as to make a proper defense, to
challenge a witness to whom he might wish to objeect and to under-:
stand the details of the ovidence.

5+ The oxaminers have prescnted their reports to the Tribunal
in the form which commends itself to them. Tt is directed that
dmgppigs of the reports,be furnished to each of the Chief Prosecutors
and to defensec counsel. The Tribunal will hear argument by the
Prosccution and by defense counsel on the issuos prés:nted by the

reports on Friday, November 30 at 4 PN,

INTERNATIONAL MILITARY TRIBUNAL

/s/ Geoffrey Lawrence
Geol'frey Lawrence
President

Dated Nurnberg, Gormany this
24th day of Novembeor, 1945

Coples of four (4) lediecal Reports
attached
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Report on Rudolf Hess, telephoned from London.

"The undersigned, having seen and exemined Rudelf Hess, have

come to the following conclusion:=-

1., There are no relevent physical sbnormslitiecs.
2. His mentel state is of 2 mixed type, He is an unsteble man,
and what is technically celled e psychopathic personslity. The
evidence of his illness in the pest four years, es presented by
one of us who hes hed him under his care in England, indicates thet
he has had 2 delusion of poisoning, and other similer perenoid ideas.

Partly as 2 reaction to the failure of his mission, these
abnormalities got worse, end led to suicidal sttempts,

In addition, he has marked hysterical tendency, which has
led to the development of various symptoms, notably 2 loss of
memory, which lasted from November 1943 tp June 1944, and which
resisted 2ll efforts st treatment. A second loss of memory began
in Februery 1945 2nd lasted till the present. This amnesic symptom
will eventually cleer, when circumstances change.
3. At the moment he is not insene in the strict sense, His loss
of memory will not entirely interfere with his comprehension of the
proceedings, but 1t will interfere with his ability to meke his
defence, and to understand details of the past, which aerise in
evidence.,
4., We recommend that further evidence shoulq be obtained by
narco-asnelysis and that if the Court decides to proceed with the
Trial, the question should efterwerds be reviewed on psychiatric
grounds " : : (Sgd) Moran

J+ Reeg, M,D., F,R.C.P,

Dated 19th November, 1945
George Riddoch



PP m st e , —
. Internastional Wilitary Tribu-al 20 November 1945
MEMORANDUM TOs Brigadier Coneral Wm, L. liitchell,
General Secretary for the Internationsal Military
Tribunal.
In response to request o6f the Tribunal that the defendant
Rudolf Hess be Bxamined, the undersigned psychiatrists examined

Rudolf Hess on November 15th =nd 19tk 1945 in his cell in the

=

o

fiiitary Priscn in Nurnberg.

The following examinations were made: physical, ®eurological
and psychological,

In addition, documents were studied bearing information concern-
ing his personal development and career. Reports cbncerning the
perlod of his stay in England were scrutinized, The results of all
psychological, special psychometric examinations and observations
carried out by the prison psychiatrist and his staff were studied.
Information was also derived from the official interrogation of
the defendant on November 14th sand November 16th-1945,

(1) “e find, as a result of our examinations and investigations
that Rudolf Hess is suffering from hysteria characterized in part
by loss of memory, The nature of this loss of memory is such that
it will not interfere with his comprehension of the proceedings, but
it will interfere with his response to questions relating to his past
and will interfere with his underteking his defense,

In addition there is a conscious exaggeration of his loss of
memory and a tendency to exploit it to protect himself against exam=
ination.,

(2) We consider that the exlsting hystericsl behaviour whieh
the defendant reveals, was initisted as a defense ageinst the circum-
stances in which he found himself while in England; thet it has now
become in part hsbitual and that it will continue as long as he re-
meins under the threat of imminent punishment, even though it may
interfere with his undertaking a more normal form of defense,

(3) It is the unanimous conelysion of the undersigned that
Rudolf Hess is not insene at the pregent time in the strict sense
of the word. {5

(s) D. Ewen Cameron : {8) Jean Delay

DR. D. EWEN CAMERON ; DR. JEAN DELAY
Professor of Psychiatrie y Professor of Psychiatrie at the
McGill University Faculty of Medicine in Paris
(8) Paul L. Schroeder {s) Nolan D, C., Lewis

COL. PAUL L., SCHROEDER DR. NOLAN D.C. LEWIS

AU.S, Neuropsychiatric Consultant=Préf, Psychiatry, Columbia Univ,
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In pursuance of the assignment by the Tribunal, ‘we, the
medical experts of the Soviet Delegetion, together with the
physicians of the English Delegation end in the prescnce of one
representative of the American Medical Delegetion, have exemined
Rudolf Hess snd made a report ofi our exaeminetion of Mr. Hess to=~
gcther with our conclusions end interpretetion of the behevior of
Mr ., Hess, .

The ststement of the general conclusions hes been signed only

by the physiciens of the Soviet Delegetion znd by Professor Deley,
the medicel expert of the French Delegetion.

Appendix: I) Concluslons end 2) the Report on the examination
of Mr. Hesss

Professor Kransnushkin, Doctor of Medicine (signed)

Professor Sepp, Honorary Scientist, Regular
Member of the Academy of Medicine (signed)

Professor Kushskov, Doctor of Medicine, Chief

Therapeutist of the Commissariat of
Health of the U.S,3,R. (signed)

November 17, 1945
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After observation and er. exeminction of Rudol” Hess the undex
signed heve reachec the fcllowing ccnclusionss #

1. No csseasiel physical dsviastions from normelity wore
sorerved.,

2., His mental co.ditions ere of 2 mixed type. He is an un-
s,otie person, which in technical terms 1is celled a psychopathic
personality. The data concerning his illness during the period orf
. last four years submitted by one of us who had him under ob-
servation in England, show that he had & delusion of being poisoned
and other similsar paranoic notions,

Partly as a2 resction to the failure of his mission there, the
ebnormal menifestetions increased end led to ettempts at suicide,
In sddition to the above mentioned he hes noticeable hysterical ten-
dencies which caused a development of verious symptoms, primarily,
of smnesia that lasted from November 1943 to June of 1944 ond re-
sisted all ettempts to be cured.

b

The amnesisa symptom'may disappeer with chenging clrcumstances.

The second period of amnesia started in February of 1945 and
has lasted up through the present,

3, At present, he 1s not insane in the strict sense of the
word, His amnesia does not prevent him completely from understand-
ing whot is going on around him but it will interfere with his
ability to eonduct his defense and to understand deteils of the past

which would appesr as factual data.

, 4, To elarify the situstion we recommend that = narco-gnalysis
be performed on him and, if the Court decides to submit him to trial,
the problem should be subsecquently re-exemined egein from a psy-
chiatrie point of view,

The econclusion reached on November 14 by the physicians of the
British Delegation, Lord Morn, Dr. T. Rees and Dr., G. Riddech, and
the physicisns of the Soviet Delegation, Professors Krasnushkin,
Sepp, ond Kurshakov, wes also errived 2t on November 15 by the
representative of the French Delegetion, Profcssor Jeon Delay,

After en oexemination of Mr,., Hess which toék place on November
15, 1945, the undersigned Professors snd experts of the Soviet
Delegetion, Krasnushkin, Sepp and Kurshekov, and Professor Jeen
Delay, the expert from the Freneh Delegetion, have agreed on the
following statement:

continued on next page



To the international militers tribunal

Mr, Hess categorically refused to be submitted to narco~analy-
8is and resisted all cther proccdures intended to effect a cure of
his amnesia, sand stated that he would agree to undergo tresatment
only after the trial, The behsavicr of Mr. Hess mekes it impossible
to aprly the methods snggested in Paragraph 4 of the report of
November 14 and to follow the suggestion of that Paragreph in pre-

_.gent form,

Professor Krasnushkin, Doctor of Medicin (signed)
Professor Sepp, Honorary Scientist, Reguler :

Member of the Academy of Medicine (signed)
Professor Kurshakov, Doctor of liedicine, Chief (signed)

Therapeutist of the Commissariet of Heslth of
the UQS.SQR.

Professor Jean Delay of the School of Medicine (signed)
in Paris

November 16, 1945
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A BRATT OP STATEMENT OF RZILEASE FOR CONSIDERATION BY MR.
JUSTICE JACKSON

The presence of the leaders of the Nazi regime in Nurnberg
offers an opportunity without parallel in history to study the
psychological and sociologidal nature of the development of

Germany during the last two decades,

This opportunity has excited the keen interests of social
gcientists from the leading universities. Some of them are at
present attending the trials and are laying plans for an
intensive examination of all information cancerning the per-
sonalities, the activities, and the behavio¥ generally of

these leaders of Nazi Germany

The studies are still in their preliminmry stages, but
1t is hoped that from them may come information and conclusions
likely to be of assistance to all those who ayge to be engaged
in the gigantic task of dealing with Germany go that she may
ultimately be able to return to cooperation with other

nations

26 November 1945



The undersigned having seen and examined RUDOLF HESS have come
te the following conclusions:

1., There are no relevant physical abnormslities,

2+ Hls mental state is of a mixed type. He is an unstable man and

what 1is technically called s psychopathic personality. The evi.

dence of his 1llness in the past four years as presented by one of

of us who has had him under his care in England, indicates that he

has had-a dalusion of polsonirg and other similar paranoid ideas,
Partly as g reaction to the failure of his mission these ab-

normalities got worse eand led to suicidal attempts,

to the develepment‘of various symptoms, notably a loss of memory
whiph lasted from November 1943 to June 1944 and which resisted all
efforts at treatment, This amnesic symptom will eventually clear
when circumgtances change, A second loss of memory began in Feb-

ruary 1945 and lasteqd t4Y1 the present,

loss of memery will not entirely interfere with his comprehension
of the proceedings, but 1t will interfere with nis abllity to make
his defense and to understand details of the past which arise in

évidence,
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16 November 1945

Interrogation by (Cclonel Amen of Hess and two former femalo
secretéries in preser.ce of ten other persons including Senator
Pepper, his Secretary, Mr. Dean (PRO), Colonel Schroeder, )Major
Kelly, interpreter, stenatypist (male) and three guards.

Hess was seated with ~ack to the door handcuffed to a
cuerd. One of his secretaries entered the room. She presented

herself to Hess with evident uncertainty and considerable restrain-

..ed feeling. Hess partly rose in his chair, extended his left hand

and looked at her as if he recognized her but with out much show

of feeling. She asked him if he remembered her and without giving

him an opportunity to answer immediately she reminded him who she

was. He expressed great interest in her statement. Then she
showed him several pictures of his son. He said, "He looks older
than I expected". Soon thereafter he asked her if he might have
them whereupon she turned to Colonel Amen and asked if she might
leave all but one. The one she kept was of Hess with a child in
his arms. Hess'! wish was granted.

The conversation which followed was many questions which
he asked about friends and places. The secretarytalked about
his wife as if she and his wife were old friends. She offered
towrite to these friends and he asked that she send his regards.

After a time Hess told her he had lost his memory which
seemed to surprise her. A second former female secretary was
brought in, She displaced a great deal of surprise at finding
the first secretary there and her eyes seemed to pop out of
her head for a moment. Vhen she greeted HKess he partially rose
but did not extend his hand and asked who she was, the first

) 4



Y

(Intehr?gation of Hess ang WO forrer Secretaries - con'd frem
bage L)

&

‘l NRErebary’ told him, Hess aslked ir gie had worked wisn nin
There wag obsurantly much less feeling eXpressed by him at the
arrival of the secong. The latter Seemed in the point or toars
mick of the time and the other hag g5 sullen cornered look on

her face,

on the knee i85 A familiap friendly good fellowship way, At one

"Yes, already two times, once by the German Gestapo”, 1The other

said she Was taken Prisoner in Bremen., The first told that she

ural manner, Picking UpP one of the Picturgs Saying, "here, maybe

this wilj help you to romomber", Hegg immediately and hurriedly
TS — : e TR ‘ . "

waved his lorg hand ag her in g restraining manncr and sald, "1

do not want help", She was taken back, Later when in Hesgg!

absence she asked about it and she saig she coulq only remembop

that she had of ferad help but not what Hegg had done op said.

TR B wmgav, g,



20 Noveriber 1945,

SLRALDUE T0g ‘Eplgadler Gencral e T4 Ultehelld,
Gencpral Sceretary for tho' International ill<
Tary Teibunal.

2}

In responso to reouest ol the Tribunal that tho defond-

ant RRudolf loss

o

exa:ined, the widersisned psychiatrists
oxarined Rudolf I'ess or Yovember 15th and 19th 1945 in
his ecll in She 1lltory Prison in.lucn borpy

1e folloving exarinations were rade: physical, ncuro=-
lorleal and psycholozical.

In addition, coecurents wore studied boaring informetion
concerhlng hile personzl developmont and career, Hoeports
concerning the period of hlsg stay in Tingland were seruti=
nizeds Tho rosulbs of =211 peycholocieal, spocial psychos
metric oxaminations anc¢ observations carried out by the
prison psychiatrist and his stall werc studied, Informa=-
tion was also derivced fror the off'icial interroration of
the dcfendant on liovernbor l4th and loveriber 16th 1945

(1) o find, as a rcsult of our examinations znd ine
vestigations, that 'udolf seEe i silfering Tron hystepis
charsa CLOPl&cJ in part oy loes of romerie - fhe acturc of
il loas of memepy 1a svoh that 1t 911X not intefore with
g-eomprohichsion of the ‘proccedinos,. hubts 1% vill intertove
th hls responsc to ducstions rels t.rr o - hie peb ond Wil
t de

intepfeope with hils npderboking hig €N8c e

asm‘g

/

In eddition Lhore 18 & conscioug exaccoration of
his loss of memory and o tendeney to oxpleoit it to pBotect
Girseld acainet oarnination.

{2) ¢ consider that the exisb;nq atorileal bohaviour
nicﬂ t}c d&l\lﬂ”ﬁu re cvonls, wos initi ucd as a defense
radingt i Bhe elrcurmstanses invrhichihe ;ound himscl? vhile

in Tnrlands that it } & now becore in part habibual and that

,..v
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Jemoranduy: to: Sl

=plpacier Gonerel Wim, L "itchelle~continucd

1€ will eontinuc as lohg 28 he rorfins under the thioat of imnminont
punishrient, cven thouth it may interfero with his undertaking a
nore normal form of delcnsoe

i8) T
Rudolf Tess
of the word

is the unanimous Conclusion of the undersigned that
I8 not insane ot tho Jdresont btime ip tho strict scnse

D-. g o JT: VWG "‘.T‘»:‘;‘.Y
Protessor of Psychiabtyie albt tho
iseulby of ledleinc in Parliss

2

ts HOT e bl T
Professor of Psych
University

3

BN

atries Colurbia

5 e
frofessor of raychiatric, Tecill
University

Gl T4

g e TR TR
Dieiligt e

jeuropsychlatric Consultant
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RECORD OF EXANMINATION OF RUDOLF HESS

According to the informstion obteined on Nov. 16, 1945, during
the interrogetion of Rosenberg who had seen Hess immediately before
the latters flight to England, Hess gave no evidence of any abnor-
mality either in appesrence of conversation., He was, as usual,
quiet and composed. Wor was it epparent thet he might have been
nervous. Prior to this, he was a calm person, habitually suffer-
ing pains in the region of the stomach.

As can be judged on the basis of the report of the English
psychiatrist, Doctor Rees, who had Hess under observation from the
first days of his flight to Englend, Hess, after the 2irplanec crash,
disclosed no evidence of a brecin injury, but, upon arrest and in-
carceretion, he begen to give expression to idess of persecution,
he feared that he would be poisoned, or killed znd his death repre-
sented as a sulcide, and that all this would be done by the English
Tander hiypaotic influence of the Jews., Furthermore, these delu-
slens #f porecccution were msintainead up to the news of the cats-
strope suffered by the CGerman Army et Stalingrad when the menifesta-
tions were replaced by amnesia. According to Doctor Rees, the de-
lusionsof persecution end the amnesia were observed not to take
place simulteneously, Furthermore, there woere two attempts at sui-
¢gide;, A4 knife wound, inflicted during the second attempt, in the
skin near the heart gsve evidence of s cleerly hysterico~demonstrae
tive character, After this there wes ageln obscrved a change from
emnesia to delusions of perseccution, ond during this period he wrote
thet he was simuleting his amnesia, and, finally, egein entered into
a state of amnesia which has been prolonged up to the present.

According to the examination of Rudolf Hess on Nov. 14, 1945,
the following was disclosed.

Hess compleins of frequent cremping peins in the region of the
stomach which appear independent of the teking of food, end hezad-
aches in the frontal lobes during mentel strein, and, finally, of
loss of memory,

In general kis condition is marked by a pallor of the skin and
noticeable reduction in food intake,

Regarding the internal organs of Hess, the pulse is 92, and a
weakening of the heart tone is noticeable, There has been no change
in the condition of the other internal orgens,

Concerning the neurological aspect, there ere no symptoms‘of
organic impairment of the nervous system,

continued on the next page.,
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Record of examination of Ruaolf Hess

Psychologically, Hess is in a state of clear consciousness;
knows that he is in prison et Nurcnberg under indictment as a war
criminal; heas read, and, according to his own words, is acqueinted
with the charges against him. He answers questions rapidly and tg
the point, His speech 1s coherent, his thoughts formed with pre-
cision and correctness =nd they are ~ccompanied by sufficient
emotionally expressive movements., Also, there is no kind of evi-
dence of paralogism. It shov.d 8lso be noted here, that the present
psychological examination, which was conducted by Lieut. Gilbert,
Ph. D., besrs out the testimoeny thet the Intelligence of Hess is
rormal and in some instances sbove the average. His movements are
T ture) end not forcede.

He hes expressod no deliricus fancics nor does he give any
deliricus explenation fop the painful sensation in his stomach
or the loss of memory, as was previously attested to by Doctor
Rees, namely, when Hess ascribed then topoisoning ', At the pres-
sent time, to the question about the reason for his painful sensa-
tions and the loss of memory, Less answers that this is for the
doctors to know, According to his own assertions, he can remember
almost nothing of his former life. The gaps in Hess' memory arc
ascertained only on the basis of the subjective changing of his
testimony about his inability to remombor this or that person or
cvent given at different times. V¥hat he knows at the prescent time
is, in his own words, what he allegedly lcarned only recently from
the information of those around him and the films which have been
shown hin,

On Nov., 14 Hess rofused the injection of narcotics which were
offered for the purposeé of making an analysis of his psychological
condition. On Nov. 15, in answer to Prof, Delay's offer, he de-
finitely and firmly refuscd narcosis and explained to him that, in
general, he would take all mcasurces to cure his amnesia only upon
completion of the trial.

All that has been éxposed above, we arec convinced, bermits, of
the intorpretstion that the deviation from the norm in the bchavior
of Hess takes the following forms:

l« In the psychological personality of Hess there are no
changes typieal of the progressive schizophreonic discase, and there-
fore the delusions, from which he suffored periodieally while in
Ingland, cannot be considercd as manlfestationg of a schizophrenic
paranoia, and must be rceccognized as the cxpression of a Psychogenic
paranoic reaction, that is, the psychologically comprehensible re-
action of an unstable (psychologically)cpcrsohality“tO‘the situation
(the failure of his mission, arrest and incarceration). Such an in-
terpretation of the delirious statoments of Hoss in England is
bespoken by their disappearance, appearance and repeated disappear-
ancc depending on oxternal circumstances which affected the mental
state of Hess,

continued an next page.



International Iiilitary Tribunal ;
Rocord of oxanination of Rudslr Loss

II, The loss of merory by Hcss is not the rosult of somo )
kind of mental discasc but rebrosents hysterical amnesia, the basisg
of whileh 13 a2 subconscioug inelination toward sclf-defense ng well

28 a deliberate ang conscious tondceney toward 1t. Such bchavior

often terminatog when the hystcrieal berson is facod with an un=

avoidable nceccssity or conducting himsclr correctly, Therofore,
the amncsia or Hess may cong upon his boing brought to trial,

III. Rudolr Hess, prior to his flisht to England, did not
suffer from any kind of insanity, nopr is he suffering from it now.,
At the proscont time he cxhibits hystorieal behavior with signs of
) conscious-intcntional (simulated) character, which docs not
cxonorate him from his P'esponsibility undep the indictrent,

Profcssopr Krasnushkin, Doctor or Mcedicine (signod)

Profcssor Sepp, Honorﬁfy Scientist, Regular (signed)
liomber of the Acadonmy of Medicine

Profcssor Kurshakov, Doctop of l'edieine, (signod)

Chier Theraputigt or the Cormissamiat of BoR1th
of the U.S.8.R.

17 November 1945



INTERNATIONAL MILITARY TRIBUNAL

THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, THE FRENCH REPUBLIC
THE UNITED KINGDOM OF GREAT BRITAIN AND INORTHERN IRELAND,
and THE UNION OF SOVIET SOCIALIST REPUBLICS
- against ~
HERNANN WILHELM GORING, et al
Defendants

ORDER

1. Counsel for the defendant Hess has made application to the
Tribunal to appoint an expert designated by the medical faculty of

the University of Zurich or of Lausanne to examine the defendant

‘Hess with reference to his mental competecnce and capacity to stand

trial. This application is denied.
2. The tribunal has designated a2 commission composed of the
following members:

Bugene Krasnuchkin, M.D., Professop Psychiatry,

lledical Institute of ligscow, assisted by
Eugene Sepp, M.D., Professor Neurology

Medical Institute of Moscow

lember, Academy of ledical Sciences, USSR; and
Nicolas Kuraskov, I1.D., , Professor of ledicine

Medical Institute of Moscow, :

Chief Internist, Commissariat of Fublid Heslth, USSR,

LOI‘d I:Ol"an, Mo D. F‘R’COP' !

President of the Royal College of Physicians, assisted by
Dr. T. Reece, M.D., F.R.C.P. ‘

Chief Consultant Psychiatrist to the War Office, and
Dr. George Ruddock, 17.D. F.R.C.P.

Director of Neurology to the London Hospital and

Chief Consultant Neurologist to the War Office

Dr. Nolan D. C. Lewis, assisted by
Dr. D. Ewen Cameron and
Col. Paul Schroeder, M.D.

Professor Jean Delay

The Tribunal has requested the commission to examine the defend-
ant Hess and furnish a report on the mental state of the defendant
with particular reference to the question whether he is able to
take his part in the trial, specificallys (1) Is the defendant

aable to plead to the indictment? (2) Is the defendant sane or not,
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and on this last issue the Tribunal wishes to be advised Whether
the defendant is of sufficient intellect to comprehend the course
of the procecdings of the trial so as to make a proper defense, to
challenge a witness to whom he might wish to object and to under-
stand the dotails of the ovidence.

3« The oxaminers have presented their reports to the Tribunal
in the form which commends itself to them. Tt is directed that
coples of the reports be furnished to each of the Chief Prosecutors
and to defensec counsel, The Tribunal will hear argument by the
Prosccution and by defense counsel on thao issues pres:nted by the

reports on Friday, November 30 at 4 P,M,

INTERNATIONAL MNMILITARY TRIBUNAL

_/s/ Geoffrey Lawrence

Geol'frey Lawrence
President

Dated Nurnberg, Gormany this
24th day of November, 1945

Coples of four (4) Mcdiecal Reports
attached
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Report on Rudolf Hess, telephoned from London,

"The undersigned, having seen and examined Rudelf Hess, have

come to the following conclusion:~

1, There are no relevent physical sbnormslities,
2. His mentel stete is of 2 mixed type, He is =n unsteble man,
and what is technically celled e psychopethic personslity., The
evidence of his illness in the past four years, as presented by
one of us who hes had him under his care in England, indicates thet
he has had = delusion of poisoning, end other similer parenoid ideas,

Partly as & reaction to the fallure of his mission, these
abnormalities got worse, end led to suicidal sttempts,

In eddition, he has marked hysterical tendency, which has
led to the development of various symptoms, notably a loss of
memory, which lasted from November 1943 to June 1944, end which
resisted all efforts st treatment. A second loss of memory began
in Februsry 1945 and lasted till the present. This amnesic symptom
will eventually clear, when circumstances change,
5. At the moment he is not insane in the strict sense., His loss
of memory will not entirely interfere with his comprehension of the
proceedings, but it will interfere with his ability to meke his
defence, and to understand details of the pest, which arise in
evidence.
4., We recommend that further evidence should be obtained by
narco-analysis and that if the Court decides to proceed with the
Trial, the question should sfterwesrds be reviewed on psychietric
grounds." (Sgd) Moran

Jer Beos, MDD,y F.R.C.P,

Dated 19th November, 1945
George Riddoch



Aternafionél Military Tribuaal 20 November 1945

# MELORANDUM T0: Brigadier Gonoral Wm, L. liitchell,
o .

General Secretary for the International Hilitary
Tribunal.

In response to request of the Tribunal that the defendant
Rudolf Hess be examined, the undersigned psychiatrists examined
Rudolf Hess on November 15th ang 19th 1945 in his eell in the
Military Priscn in Nurnberg.

The following eXaminations were made: physical, ﬁburological
and psychological,

In addition, documents were studieqd bearing information concern-
ing his personal development ang career., Reports concerning the
period of his stay in England were scrutinized, The results of all
psychological, Speeigl psychometric eXaminations and observations’
carried out by the prison psychiatrist and his staff were studied,
Information was also derived from the effleinl interrogation of
the defendant on November 14th ang November 16t 1945,

(1) ve find, as a result of our examinations and investigations

the defendant reveals, was initiasted as & defense ageinst the circum-
stances in which he found himself while in Englend; that 1t has now
become in part hsbitual and that 1t will continue 8s long as he re=-
meins under the threat of imminent punishment, even though it may
interfere with his undertaking a more normal form of defense,

(s) D, Ewen Cameron (s) Jean Delay

DR. D. EWEN CLMERON DR. JEAN DELAY
Professor of Psychiatrie Professor of Psychiatrie at the
MeGill Unlversity Faculty or Medicine in Paris
(s) Paul L, Schroeder (s)- Nolan D, C, Lewis

COL. PAUL I.. SCHROEDER DR. NOLAN D.cC. LEWIS
AU.S, Neuropsychiatrie Consultant-Pror, Psychiatry, Columbia Univ,

i
¥
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TO_THE INTERN ...ONAL MILITARY TRIBUNAL |

In pursuance of the assignment by the Tribunal,'we, the
medical experts of the Soviet Delegetion, together with the
physicians of the English Delegation and in the presence of one
~epresentative of the American Medical Delegetion, have examined
Rudolf Hess and made a report oh our examinstion of Mr, Hess to-

gether with our conclusions eénd interprctestion of the behavior of
M»., Hesa, ;

The statement of the general conclusions hss been signed only
by the physicisns of the Soviet Delegation end by Professor Deley,
the medical expert of the French Delegetion,

Appendix: I) Conclusions end 2) the Report on the examination
of Mr., Hessli

Professor Kransnushkin, Doctor of Medicine (signed)

Professor Sepp, Honorary Scientist, Regular
Member of the Academy of Medicine (signed)

Professor Kushskov, Doctor of Medicine, Chief

Therapeutist of the Commissariat of
Health of the U.S,8.R. (signed)

November 17, 1945
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After observation 2né =vx. exeminstion of Rudolf Hess the unde™
slgned heve reached the fcllowing conclusions;

l. No cssen%iel physical davistions from normelity weve
ooferved.,

2, Hls mental couditions ere of a2 mixed type. He is an un-
sttble person, which in tecihnical terms is cslled a psychopathic
personality, The data concerning his illness during the period of
t.o0 last four years submitted by one of us who hed him under ob-
servevion in England, show thet he had a2 delusion of being poisoned
and cther similer paranoic notions,

Partly as a resction to the failure of his mission there, the
abnormal manifestetions incrcased and led to attempts et suicide,
In addition to the above mentioned he hes noticeable hysterical ten-
dencies which caused a development of verious symptoms, primerily,
of smnesla that lasted from November 1943 to June of 1944 eond re-
sicted all attempts to be cured,

The amnesia symptom may disappear with chenging circumstances.,

The second poriod of amnesia sterted in February of 1945 and
has lasted up through the present,

3« At present, he 1s not insane in the strict sense of the
word, His amnesia does not prevent him completely from understaend-
ing what is going on around him but it will interfere with his
ability to conduct his defense 2nd to understand deteills of the past

which would eppesr z2s feoectual deta,

4, To clarify the situction we recommend that & narco-asnslysis
be performed on him and, if the Court decides to submit him to trial,
the problem should be subsequently re-examined agein from a psy-
chiatric point of 'view,

The concluslion reached on November 14 by the physicians of the
British Delegation, Lord Morn, Dr, T, Rees and Dr, G. Riddech, end
the physiclians of the Soviet Delegation, Professors Krasnushkin,
Sepp, 2nd Kurshakov, wes 2lso arrived at on November 15 by the
representetive of the French Delegation, Professor Jeon Delay,

After an examination of Mr, Hess which toédk place on November
15, 1945, the undersigned Professors snd experts of the Soviet
Delegetion, Krasnushkin, Sepp and Kurshzkov, snd Professor Jean
Delay, the expert from the French Delegetion, have agreed on the
following statement:

continued on next page
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‘To the internationsl militery tribunal

Mr, Hess categorically refused to be submitted to nerco-analy-
sis and resisted all other procecdures intended to effect a cure of
his amnesia, end stated that he would agree to undergo tresatment
only after the trial, The behavior of Mr., Hess mekes it impossible
to aprly the methods suggested in Paragraph 4 of the report of
November 14 and to follow the suggestion of that Paragraph in pre-
sent form,

Professor Krasnushkin, Doctor of Medicin (signed)

- Professor Sepp, Honorary Scientist, Reguler
Member of the Academy of Medicine (signed)
 Professor Kurshakov, Doctor of Mediecine, Chief (signed)

Therapeutist of the Commissariet of Heslth of
thie U.8,8.R,

Professor Jean Deley of the School of Medicine (signed)
in Peris

November 16, 1945
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A DRAFT QP STATEMENT OF RELEASE FOR CONSIDERATION BY MR,
JUSTICE JACKSON

The presence or the leaders of the Nazi regime in Nurnberg
offers an opportunity without Parallel in history to study the
pPsychological and sociological nature of the development of

Germany during the last two decades,

This opportunity has excited the keen interests of Social
sclentists from the leading universities. Some of them are at
present attending the trials and arse laying plans for an
intensive éxamination of all information concerning the perw
Sonalities, the activities, and the beha#ior generally of

these leaders or Nazi Germany

26 November 1945

S



The undersigned having seen and examined RUDOLF HESS have come
te the following conclusions:

1. There are no relevant physical abnormslities,

24 His mental state is of a mixed type. He i1s an unstable man and
what 1s technically called a psychopathic personslity. The evi.
dence of his 1llness in the past four years as presented by one of
of us who has had him under his care in England, indicates that he
has hed-=a delusion of polsoning and other similar paranoid ideas,

Partly as a reaction to the failure of his mission these ab-
normalities got worse and led to suicidal attempts.,

In addition he has s marked hysterical tendency which has led
to the develepment of wvarious symptoms, notably a loss of memory
which lasted from November 1943 to June 1944 and which resisted ail
efforts at treatment. This eamnesic symptom will eventually clear
when clrcumstances change. A second loss of memory began in Feb-
ruary 1945 and lasted t1l1 the present,

3. At the moment he is not insane in the striot sense. His
loss of memery will not entirely interfere with his comprehension
of the proceedings, but it will interfere with his ability to make
his defense and to understand details of the past which arise in
evidence,

4, We recommend that further evidence should be obtained by
Narce-analysis and that if the court decides to proceed with the
trial the questiens should afterwafd be reviewed on psychiatric

grounds,
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16 Novewber 1945

Interrogation by Cclonel Amen of Fess and two former femal-
secretaries in preseﬂce of ten other pérsons including Senator
Pepper, his Secretary, iir. Dean (PRO), Colonel Schroeder, lMajor
Kelly, interpreter, stenatypist (male) and three guards.

Hess was seated with “ack to the door handcuffed to a
cuerd.  One of his secretaries entered the room. She presented

herself to Hess with evident uncertainty and considerable restrain-

~8d feeling. Hess partly rose in his chair, extended his left hand

and looked at her as if he recognized her but with out much show
of feeling. She asked him if he remembered her and without giving
‘him an opportunity to answer immediately she reminded him who she
was. He expressed great interest in her statement. Then she
showed him several pictures of his son. He said, "He looks older
than I expected". Soon thereafter he asked her if he might have
them whereupon she turned to Colohel Amen and asked if she might
leave all but one. The one she kept was of Hess with a child in
his arms. Hess' wish was granted.
The conversation which followed was many questions which
he asked about friends and places. The secretarytalked about
his wife as if she and his wife were cld friends. ' She offered
towrite to these friends and he asked that she send his regards.
After a time Hess told her he had lost his memory which
seemed to surprise her. A second former female secretary was
brought in. She displaced a great deal of surprise at finding
the first secretary there and her eyes seemed to pop out of
her head for a moment. %hen she greeted HEess he partially rose
but did not extend his hand and asked who she was, the first

1

e ————————
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{interrogation of Hess and two former secretaries - con'd from

page i)

2
secretary told him., Hess asked if she had worked with him.
There was obsurantly much less feelinz expressed by him at the
arrival of the second. Ths latter seemed in the point of tecars
mch of the time and the other had a sullen cornered look on
el iace.,
The conversation between the threce of them was soon in a

lichter vein and Hess was observed to smile and pat the women
: Mo

P

on the knee in a familiar friendly good fellowship way. At one

"ﬁoint Hess asked them if they were in prison too. The first said
"Yes, already two times, once by the German Gestapo". The other
said she was taken prisconer in Bremen. The first told that she
had been working as & medical technician for the Amcrican
hospital.

They all commiserated with one another over their lot,

In the course of the interrogation an incident of signifi-
cance occurred. Hess was asked about a matter which he replied,
"I do not remembeﬁiwhereupon the lst woman interrupted in a nate
ural manner, picking up one of the pictures saying, "hero, maybe
this will help you to remcmber®. Hess immediately and hurriedly
waved his left hand at her in a restraining manncr and said, "I
do not want help". She was takon back. Later when in Hess'!
absence she asked about it and she said she could only r¢member

that she had offered help but not what Hess had done or said.
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(3) 71t is tho unanimous Conclusion of the undersigned that
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TO THE INTERNATIONAL MILITARY TRIBUNAL:
MATTER OF RUDOLF HESS '

The undersigned representatives of their respective
nations answer the request of the Tribumal of 28 November,
1945 respectfully as follows:

1., We do not challenge or question the report of
the Committee,

2. It 1s our pogitidn that the defendant Rudolf
Hess is fit to stand trial.

3., Observations may be filed by any of the under-
signed based on their respective relationships to the subject
matter.

R. RUDENKO

For the Union of sSoviet Sociallst
Republics

C.DUBOST

ToT The Provisional Government of
France,

DAVID MAXWELL-FYFE

For tre United Kingdom of Great
Britein and Northern Ireland.

ROBERT H. JACKSON

For the Unitec oStates of America

29 November 1945



The hearing of the Tribunal on November 30, 1945, concerning the
mental state of the defendant Hess was noteworthy on several *‘counts.
First among these is the remarkable degree of accord revealed in the
reports of the groups of psychiatric experts representing the four
countries responsible for the trial. While there can be no doubt

CafR=

that the p&rtieular fact that the experts were appointed by the Tribunal

itself rather thag\the prosecutlon and defense separately contributed to this
agreement the extent of ;ééégﬁ;nt as to diagn081s as to sanity and as to
fitness to plead was remarkable., This was the more so since there has
been a considerable curtailment of exéhange of scientific information
between the various countries during the war period and the normal
transfer of ideas, technics and procedures has been limited.

This essential agreement betﬁeen the groups whose examinations
with the exception of that of the French who participated in all three
were carried out separately strengthens the conclusions of the psychiatric
panel

» Lo el

Of equalnote is the fact that all four prosecutors and so far as ean
be determined, the counsel for the defense also accepted the findings
although although some degree of difference as between the prosecution
and defense was voiced, this being based upon the unanimous agreement
of the psychiatric panel that the defendant's amnesia, while it would not
interfer with his grasp of what was said, might result in his making a
less adequate defense,

Itbgﬁivbe noted that the methods of treatment which were at one time

proposed to Hesglwhich he refused ané)which his counsel referred to as

nforceful" are no means so. They consist very simply in the administra-



ArnYTAE
tion of sedatives such as sodium amythiol or pentothol which are in daily

use in general hospitals of large and small cities throughout the country.
Eﬁ;o;i;h\;ve been used t;‘:onspicuous success in the treatment of
those who have suffered from temporary impairment of memory as a conse-
quence of battle experiences. They are pleasant to take and their im=-
mediate effects are to reduce any anxiety and apprehension which may be
present and there are no undesirable after effects.

When the defendant was called upon to speak there ensued ax;episode
which while apparently startling, vis actually quite common in this'type
of condition. Hess announced that his memory was "again in order",
that he had simulated his less Qf memory for tactical reasons while in
England but he had intended to reserve his declaration for a later period
in the trial and that his attornei was not a party to this deception, smd
\-le qualified his statement by saying that his powers of concentration were
still somewhat impaired but that he felt that he could grasp what was
said and that he accepted the eptire responsibility for the acts for which
he was being tried though he denied the competence of the Tribunal to try
him.

Analyzing these statemen‘c&) one notes first the theatrical and
dramatic dwamatic nature of his ws:nd of his pose and relatedto this
the lack of contact which the audience seemed to feel with him during the
declaration as contrasted with that which they had evinced when Goering

b2}

made his attempt to address the Tribunal amd being asked to plead to the

indictment.



From his statement there appeared an interesting doubt as to whether
he himself considered that he had always maintained full control of his
memory, this being manifested in the statement that his memory was ig&i_n
in order though his concentration was still impaired.

The reports of all four expert groups had stressed the fact that
while Hess suffered from a degree ;:E hysterical amnesia, he consciously
simulated a still greater degree of memory loss than he actually had
and that he used it precisely as indeed the defendant admitted he did to
;e;ena ﬁimself against inquiry and examination.

A further point which throws considerable light upon the stability of
his personality is the very fact that having maintained this degree of
simulation over a long period he discarded it at the very time when
he might have hoped that it would save his life, ‘

In the absence of further direct examination, no definite explanation
can be given for.l‘:ls throwing away of his carefu;ly built up protection.
Certain conjectures however seem reasonable. -Férstﬁhmont these is that
the association with the other defendants after a long period of practical
isolation)the reviving by the prosecution of a great train of happenings
and incidents in which Hess had taken part in earlier years and amazing
though it may be to ordinary folk, the very possibility that he might
be adjudged incompetent to plead and hence thrown out of the limelight
resulted in the overcoming of the hysterical amnesia and then in a
determination to drop his simulation. Incidentally, it had beén noted
over the last few days prior to November 30, 1945, that he was taking
x progressively more interest in the trial, was wearing his earphones
and had almost dropped reading his novels. -

It is difficult for those not a;quainbed with the defendant(to

-3 =



realize how extraordinarily important prestige and the limelight are for
them,

With regard to the further unfolding of Hess' behavior, we feel that
it is essential to stress his great unstability.Within the period of four
years there has been a great variety of symptoms, delusions of persecution,
2 suicidal attempts, at least 2 periods ef hysterical amnesia, various
bodily symptoms such as his abdominal eramps which apparently are of
neurotic origin and finally this last dram?,tici outburst. These abnormalities
of behavior have appreared and vanished a;;é;hpressures torwhich he has
been subjected since he broke away from his established position in the
Nazi hier#rchy have waxed and —v:u,;:md. At present it can only be stated
that as the psychological stresses of the trial mount further evidences

of his instability may well appear either in the form of his previous '

symptoms or in ways which diffex;from those which he has as yet shown.
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Provisional suggestion for a book which might be called

"RUDOLF HESS :
A Prohlem in Medical Disgnosis®

By a group of physicians who have been concerned with him
from 1941-1946 :
Bditod by :&R.R@SS, iQ!ﬁ,?.R.G.?Q
Lately Consulting Paychiatrist to the Britigh Aray.

¥y acquaiﬁtancs with Hess dates from about a fortnight after
his arrival in this country in 194, I was called in &8 the
Army's Consulting Psychlatriet, and I saw hin at inte-vals of

five or six weeks from them on until he was taken across to

Huremberg in July 1945, I saw him agein out sthere in November

: 1945. '

Four other British Psychiatrists are involved in this histery
since they were in resident charge of him during these vesrs when
he was in this country, When he went to Furcaberg he came under
the charge of the U.8.irmy, snd I am hoping to get a chapter from
Major Douglas ®elly who was the Paychiatrist to the Army Prison
there, who, owing to the circumstances had s uni ue opportunity of
getting further in some ways in investigzation of the esaze than we
had been able to do during the War in this country. '

It may possibly be wise also to have an Appendix, or a short
second part, written by the thres graainent Americen Paychlatrints
who were sent over to see Hess in Nuremberg in December 1945,
Professor Ewan Cameron, Professor Nolan D.C.Lewis, =nd Colonel
Paul Shroeder,

@ of Book,. |
~ 1 should guess that the book could usefully be about 120~

pages. It should not in my epinion contain padding, nor bes re-
petitive if one can avoid this., It is possible that the various
documents of evidence still to be given at Nuremberg may add to
its length. It depsnds how nmuch material of forensic or medicoe
ldgal importsnce ig presented by either prosecution or defence. :
The book will be limited to medical history, and such other facts
48 are setually relevant, The War Office and the Foreign 0ffice 3
are prepared for the writing up of such materianl, subject of §
courze to their scrutiny and censorship, provided that it does not
deal with other materisal of 2 politiesl character,

Contents. : | : ‘“
1. ntroductory Chapter, What happened, and how the problenm

cane to notiee. The naturs of the medical snd custodial problems, |
and how they wsre met. ' :

2 " The aﬁtecaéant'graﬁaryﬂﬁf‘Haas*‘ i b . -

s The firét’ph&se of his eapziﬁi%y from the date of srrival te
his unsuccessaful attempt at suicide. £

4, The second phase covering the perled up to Stalingrad, with
Hesa' developument of smnesia, -

He The third phase up to his removal to Nursmberg,

6, The fourth phase, Nurembsrg, the trial and gudgment.
(Including, I hope, Major Douglas Kelly's findings).

e Susmary snd conelusions, including possibly the comments
of the American psychiatric team who saw hinm,

. Appendices - It may be more convenient to print here some of
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the Huremberg documents of which up to date, of course, I have
only a few, They probsbly will be best abstracted,

-

This is only a tentative arrangement, sinca I have not yet
worked through the material, It is possible that there may be
soune better methed of proeszent 1t.

‘  ohe book should I think have as illustrations three or four
pietures of Hess at different stages of his life, which I inagine
we shall be able to get from an Agenecy without much difficulty.

,—‘/’
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ADDITIONAL: PSYCHTIATRIC COMMENT
ON THE RUDOLPH HESS CASE

The role of the psychiétrist in the trial of the leading
Axis war criminals attained historical significance, This
significance was derived in large measﬁre from the fact that
the psychiatric panel was aﬁpointed by the Internatiowal Military
Tribunal and reported its findings directly to that body. This
at one stroke obviated the distressing spectacle of scigntific
experts being pitted againsﬁ each other so common in civflian
criminal trials., This was in sharp contrast to universal prac-
tice of civilian courts in Wﬁich the medical expert finds himself
appointed either to the defeﬁse or prosecution and his impartimlity
bpought into question by the very fact that he is made a party
to a contest. He is denied access to information which permits
him to be impartial.

The nature of the charges against the defendants are.such as
to arouse the keenest interest of all students of human behavior,
In at least three of the defendants, namely: Hess, Streicher and
Krupp definite question was raised as to their sanity and as to
their ability to defend themselves against the charges.

The'Tribunal took cognizance of these questions to request
the examination of these defendants by representative psychia-
trists of four of the victorious countries., Thus these scientists
were permitted to make their study as impartial workers utilizing‘
tﬁe scientific method, It removed the restriction imposed upon
the expert witness in civilian courts in both criminal and civil
trisls in that they served neither prosecution mor defense, It
is therefore uniaue in criminal jurisprudent and hence of tremen-
dous historicel interest., It sets a precedent which should be
followed in all civilian criminal court proceedings.

The appointment of psychiatrists from four geographically

widely separated countries, speaking three differenct languages,
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and coming from other oulturés assured a diversity of view point
and breadth of approach in the studies made., It served also as
a severe and critical test of:the science of psychiatry and the
ability of professional workers unaware of the methods used by
one another to come to similar conclusions in spite of language
and other barriers. That the 10 designated scientists came to
unanimous conclusions on the ﬁain issues involved in the case

is proof that the science of psychiatry is sound and that these
representatives were independént in their work and free from
political influencess

The Tribunal raised specific questions of a legal nature some
of which required interpretation unfamiliar to the psychiatrist,
However the Tribunal did not 1limit the psychiatrist to direct
categorical replies and authorized a report made in the form which
commended itself to the examiners. This is unique in court prac-
tice,

This psychiatrist as an expert witness in the court is not
quglified to pass on legal matters. To attempt to do so would
be stultifying and would confuse scientific method and legal
practice, For example, the expert witness does not appreciate
all the legal implications of the questiom "can the defendant
plead to the indictment”. He may inform himself but im so
doing he must depart from the practice of medicime and enter
the sphere of the profession of the law and specifically the
field of criminal jurisprudence.

I,ikewise his concept of insanity differs from that of the
judge. To the psychiatrist the word insanity means the exis-
tence of unsoundness of mind of such a nature and degree as to
prevent him from distinguishing between right and wrong and from

adhering to-the right. To some others it is synonymous with

psychosis,
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Although, in general, insanity meeans the same thing to the

court it has howewver other implications as well, These have to
do with such questions as were raised in defendant Hess' case,
namely: is---"the defendant (Hess) of sufficient imtellect

to comprehend the course of the proceedings of the trial ----to
challenge a witness to whom he might wish to object and to unders
stand the details of the evidence,™ The interest of the court
in the defendant's intellect is understandable but it is not
consistent with the psychiatrist's conception of imsanity. Two
fundamental principles were established in this examination,
Firstly, the psychiatrist serves science and the purpose of the
eriminal court best whem he is free as an impartial witness to
utilize the scientific method im his examinatiom., Secondly, his
report is of greatest value when his findimgs are reported in
definite understandable medical language., This was made‘possible
by the International Military Tribunal by their instructions

to the psychiatrists and by their request concerning the form

of the reports.

Our examination revealed that Hess is not insane, has no

disorder of consciousness, understands perfectly everything that

is said to him and therefore understands the nature of the'pro-
ceedings against him, He asserted that he had suffered a loss

of memory for the past, but it was the definite impression that
what he interpreted as depending upon memory was not available

to an examiner, but what he did not understand as depending om

memory as such was reproduced.

He claimed that he had no recollection or mental image of
his parents yet he answered some other questioms about his family
without utilizing his usual phrase "I don't know". Moreover, he
carried on the various mental and physical activities of his
daily 1ife despite the alleged loss of memory for the time whem

he learned them., The titles of some of the books he has been

R e
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* i« . reading indicate that he must have, in order to understand their

significance, retained some of the background of his education
and training, although he sa&s he does not remember what studies
he undertook in his early years and has mo memory of his tutors,
However when asked if he had ever studied astrology he replied
emphatically "No" instead of "I don't remember",

These among other phenomena suggest that a part of the
memory loss 1s simulated and it is probable that the hysteriecal
or unconscious part is rather superficial, He adhered quite con-
sistently to the patter of saying "I don't know", "I don't re-

“member" to questions relating to his past life. It is probable
that this type of response was originally developed comsciously
as a protective measure during a period of stress; that it has
become habitual and has therefore become unconseious in part.

Detailed studies by means of special techniques that could
have been made to determine the extent of the unconscious ele-
ments in this memory loss were resisted by him, His refusal was
explained :in such phrases as "My memory has nothimg to do with
my. responsibilityYcevess "1 can get my memory back by experiments
after the trialesseslt is not so important to get cured before
the trial".«sss Therse is no posgibility of doimg it in a natural
way", He obviously wanted to retain the amnesia,

His behavior was dissimilar to that of the usual amnesic as
evidenced by the lack of any attempt fo recover his memory. His
behavior during the early sessions of the trial, his apparent
inattention to the prooeedings and his readimg of books imcluding
novels in the court room when matters which should have been of
great vital interest to him were under discussion must be inter-
preted as abnormal reactions.

It is now the concensus among psychiatrists, that only an
unstable person can or does use this method of dealing with the
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major issues of life, and there is a sufficient amount of evidenmce
in his personal history to indicate that he has been an unstable
Personality and has a neurotic character which has @xpressed ‘it~
self in hysterical symptoms from time to time, His present claim
to A loss of memory is one of these hysterical reactions develop-
ing connectiom with the dilemma in which he found himself im
England. The British record states that he had a loss of memory
from November 1943 to June 1944, at which time it was recovered,
His present amnesia started in February 1945 and now serves the
psychological purpose of ¢éomplicating the examination pro«:eedings:9

He therefore has a selective amnesia, hysterical in type
utilizing defense mechanisms of an emotional nurotiec nature.

He has no brain disease as such as his capacity for thinking is
basically intact, His diffiéulty being embtionally determined
he is not wholly aware or entirely conscious of the significance
of his symptoms, amd although his ability is unimpaired he does
not use it in the examinations and may not during the trial pro=-
ceedings,

The hearing of the Tribunal on November 30, 1945, concern-
ing the mental state of the defendant Hess was noteworthy on
several counts. First among these is the remarkable degree of
accord revealed in the reports of the groups of psychiatric ex-
perts representing the four countries responsible for the trial,
While there can be no doubt that the fortunate fact that the
experts were appointed by the Tribunal itself rather than by the
prosecution and defense separately contributed to this agreement,
the extent of concurrence as to diagnosis, as to sanity amd, as
té fitness to plead, was remarkable, This was the more so since
there has been a considerable curtailment of exchange of
scientific information between the various countries during the
war period and the normal transfer of ideas, technics and pro-

cedures has been limited,
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This essential agreementdbetween the groups whose examinations
with the exception of that of the French who participated in all ik
three, were carried out separately strengthens the conclusions of
the psychiatric panel, :

Of equal note 1s the facf that all four prosecutors, and so
far as could be determined, the counsel for the defense, also ac-
cepted the findings although some degree of difference as between
the prosecution and defense was voiced, this being based upon the-
unanimous agrecment of the psychiatric panel that the defendant'sv
amesia, while it would not interfere with his grasp of what was
said, would result in his making a less adequate defense.

It may be noted that thé methods of treatment whichi were at
one time proposed to Hess, which he refused and, which his counsel
referred to as "forceful" are by noO means SO. They comsist very
simply in the administration of sedatives such as sodium amytal or
pentothol which are in déily usc in general hospitals of large ana
small cities throughout the coumtry. They have also been used witl
conspicuous success in the treatment of those who have suffered
from temporary impairment of memory as a consequence of battle eX=
periences, They are pleasant to take and their immediate effectsf
are to reduce anxiety and apprehension which may be present and -
there are no undesirable after effects.

Yhen the defendant was called upon to speak there ensued an
episode which while apparently startling, is actually quite common
in this type of condition. Hess announced that his memory was
mggain in order", that he had simulated his loss of memory for
tacital reasons while in England but he had intended to reserve
nis dedlaration for a later period in the trial and that his at-
torney was not a party to this deception. He qualified his state~
ment by saying that his powers of comcentration were still some=-
what impaired but that he felt that he could graSp what was said
and that he accepted the entire responsibility for the acts for 1
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which he was being tried though he denied the competence of the
Tribunal to try him,

Analyzing these statements; one notes first the theatrical
and dramatic nature of his de@lération.and of his pose, and re-
lated to this the lack of contact which the audience seemed to
feel with him during the declarétion as contrasted with that
which they had evinced when Goe}ing made his attempt to address
the Tribunal on beimg asked to plead to the indictment.

From his statement there appeared an imterestimg doubt as to
whether he himself considered that he had always maimtained full
control of his memory, this beimg manifested in the statement
that his memory was again in order though his concentration was
still impaired,

The reports of all four eipert groups had stressed the fact
that while Hess suffered from éudegree of hysterical ammnesia, he
consciously simulated a still greater degree of memory loss than
he actually had and that he used it precisely as indeed the de-
fendant admitted he did to protect himself against imquiry and
examination,

A further point which throws considerable light upon the in-
stability of hig personality is the very fact that having main-
taimed this degree of simulatiom over a long period he discarded it
at the very time when he might have hoped that it would save his
lite,

In the absence of further direct examination, no definite
explanation can be given for this throwing away of his carefully
built up protection., Certain conjectures -however seem reasonable,
Among these is that the association with the other defendants
after a long period of practical isolation, the revivimg by the
érosecution of & great train of happenings and incidents in which
Hess had taken part in earlier years and amazimg though it may be
to ordinary folk, the very possibility that he might be adjudged
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incompetent to pleaq and hence thrown out of the limelight, re-

sulted in the overcoming of the hysterical ammesia, and then

in a determination to drop his simulation. Incidentally, it had
been noted over the last few days prior to November 30, 1945, that
he was taking progressively more imterest in the trial, was wear-
ing his earphones and had almost dropped reading his novels.

It is difficult for those not accuainted with the defendants
to realize how extraordimarily importent prestige and the lime=-
light are for them,

With regard to the further unfolding of Hess' behavior, we
feel that it is essential to stress his great imstability. Within
the period of four years there has been a great variety of sympe
toms, delusions of persecution, 2 suicidal attempts, at least
2 periocds of hysterical amnesia, various bodily symptoms such a s
his abdominal cramps which apparently are of neurotiec origin and
finally this last dramatic outburst. These abnormalities of be-
havior have appeared and vanished as the pressures to which he has
been subjected since he broke away from his established position'
in the Nazi hierarchy have waxed and waned., At present it can
only be stated that as the psychological stresses of the trial
mount, further evidences of his instability may well appear either
in the form of his previous symptoms or in ways which differ from

those which he has as yet shown.

D. Ewen Cameron
Professor of Psychiatry
McGill University

‘Nolan D, C, Lewis

Professor Psychiatry

Columbia Uniwersity

Director of New York State
Psychiatric Institute and Hospit

Paul L, Schoreder

Colonel, M.,Cq

Professor Psychiatry

Uniwversity of Illinois

Director, Institute for Juvenile
Research
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PSYCHIATRIC TRAGEDY OF RUDOLF HESS

By: W. Clifford M. Scott

This is a first draft of a story of Hess. Your
comments will surely help me tell it better another time,

We often ask 'are we our brothers' keepers'? If
we are, should we not recurrently try to point out our
own omissions in the hope that we can learn to do better?
We all live in psychiatric glass houses. May we
think of learning by being concerned;

It is for such reasons amongst others that I ask
you to listen to my summary of the tradegy of Rudolf
Hess - a man who went to war, was judged a criminal and
is chronically psychiatrically ill, Hess is known at
least by name if not by detailed repute to more people
in the world than any other patient now in custody.

Growing up means learning to discriminate

between war, crime and illness. These all come

“together when one thinks of sick war criminals. We
‘as doctors may forget our first feelings about war

as we grow up and become more and more immersed in practice

and teaching. Nevertheless the implications
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of the wars we have thought about can be seen in our
attitude to our practice and our teaching. I'd like
to remind you of a few wars which have affectéd and
still affect our thinking when we practise and
teach.

Being of mixed Scottish-Irish ancestry made
it real for me to think of English-Scottish fights
and of English-Irish and Irish-Irish fights. Growing
up near Toronto made it real to think of the Americans
burning and pillaging the city in 1812; visiting
Montreal made it real that Wolfe and Montcalm had
fought. Watching soldiers leave for and return from
World War I. did little to make the European
battlefields real, and only sharpened one's desire to
be old enough to fight., Later, seeing thé smallness
of the battlefields where millions fought and millions
died literally within sight of one another made it
impossible to forget Ypres, Vimy, the Somme and Verdun.

France

Learning more about/the Saar, Alsace, Lorraine, Baden
and Wurttemberg made not only French-English fights
but French-German fights earier to believe in. When
my children want to know who they are and where they
come from, their Scottish-Irish-French-German ancestry
leads me to answer their questions in terms of many
wars and many places. My first child, on coming to
bomb-swept London in 1945, asked about the "bad
children there must be in London", and learned during
the next years to discriminate the different weapons

the bad men of the world used to wreak their various
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types of havoc. Soon a child distinguishes between
war and crime and between crime and illness. Later
if he becomes a psychiatrist he must remember the
similarities.

Professor John Dollard of Yale, in reviewing
Dr. Rittwagen's recent book, entitled "Sins of their
Fathers", detéiling her first five years work as a
psychiaﬁrist in New York's Children's Courts, suggests,
after extolling her worksthat the title is misleading
in so far as the Fathers referred to all concerned.
These may be taken to be the real parents of the
delinquent children, who are often as helpless as the
children themselves, rather than the "City Fathers"
who, he feels, are the sinners - their sins being those
of omission to provide enough "institutions, social
workers, religious workers, prébation officers,
settlement staffs, psychologists, psychiatrists, teachers,
judges, police or psychotherapists".

Similarly, in writing about Hess we should ask
where did we sin bywqmission? - And who are the 'we! who
are ééﬁééfﬁéd? ; Are 'we' thé psychiatrists, or ﬁhe‘
judges or "thé generals” or the politicians, or are "we'"
all these together - even though such a "we' get |
together too infrequently? '

The story of a siﬁgle individual has often
helped many to clear their heads and prepare for better
action - the story of a Moses, a Christ, a Mahommet,

a Newton, a Napoleon, a Darwin, a Dreyfus, a Pasteur,

a Lister, a Freud, a Lenin, a Stalin, a Churchill, have
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all made us think. I started psychiatry at a time
when I listened to my teachers talk about Napoleon
and his physical illnesses and his epilepsy. I
feel we owe it to our juniors to try to make them
think about the religious, political, military,
social, psychological, medical and psychiatric
implications of the life of such a man as Hess.

Hess is suffering from a psychiatric
disability and to the best of my knowledge is not
being treated according to the standards
psychiatrists would consider me<t adequate. Had
he a surgical or medical condition I have no doubt
that he would be freated according to the usual
standards. This is a psychiatric tragedy.

Without any doubt there are hundreds of
thousands of psychiatric tragedies. I single
out Hess as he represents a tragedy known by name
to more people in the world than any other such
tragedy. Contemplating a tragedy in art or drama
or in psychiatric work may help us learn how to
lessen the likelihood of tragedies. With Hess the
tragedy continues and while he still lives it is
not too late for someone to try to prevent this
tragedy from having a fatal outcome.

from prison

The recent release/of the murderer Leopold
after more than 33 years will increase interest in
his autobiography which has been published too
recently for it to have been read by many or to have
been discussed widely. As yet we do not know

whether it will contain the story of what helped him
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change from the man sent to prison for life to the
man now paroled.

In the story of Hess we may look for any

R S R

ev1dence he mlght ‘have shown _of the _way he con301ously

or, perhaps more 1mpertantly, unconsclously, asked

for help for hls psychlatrlc dlsabllity. We may also

e — B S SS———

look for ev1dence of the way those who have reported

s

helr contacts with him showed thelr ‘manner of trylng

——— s —"

to dlscover how ‘they could talk about ‘his illness to

e

increase., We may look for evidence as to how they

tried to help him. We may look for evidence of how and why

trying, to
they avoided/helpg him.

In the past few decades many things have

happened which we all have known about to different

degrees. As psychiatrists we have tried to understand the psychology

these things. We may think of the Russian trials
before the war and of the way in which the German
nation succumbed to Hitler's outlook. We may think of
E.C.Ts, of insulin coma and of leucotomy. For nearly
two decades the attitude people, and especially
psychiatriets, have taken to the history of Hess and
the treatment of Hess may be considered a touchstone

psychological psychological
for our /curiosity and our/concern.

In 1951, Desmond Curran in his Presidential

Address to the Psychiatric Section of the Royal

Society of Medicine, entitled "Psychiatry Limited",

* Proceedings of the Royal 8001ety of Medicine 45:105.
1952 (abridged) J. Ment. Sci. 98:373. 1952.
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tried to temper the enthusiasm of those who might
follow Brock Chisholm, who, as Director General of the
World Health Organization, approved a definition of
health as "a state of complete physical, mental and
social weli-being", and not?gerely the absence of
disease or infirmity. Curran discussed the dangers of
extending psychiatry in the directions taken by some
psychiatris ts who have much to say about psychotherapy,
crime and criminal responsibility, man's working
capacity, and positive selection of pedple for different
types of work, |

One corollary of such apprehension about the
extension of psychiatry has to do with the courage needed
in psychotherapy, or indeed in psychiatric practice in
general, when the symptoms of a patient who has been an
important person in any culture are shown to be
significantly related to familial, social, religious or

political events. This corollary will be illustrated
-Tﬁ—

and others who had to deal with Hess and the treatment of

over and over again /the attitudes of e psychiatrists /7/

his illness.

B

g}iot Slater is the only psychiatrist who has l\

written strongly about the fateful lack of treatment.

In his review of Rees's book on Hess he wrote: ]

"My analysis, when contrasted with that

< i "

provided in this book, throws into relief the differences

between two schools of psychiatry. Considered in ihé

terms of a psychotherapeutic discipline, Hess's case was

one of great difficulty and obscurity. Considered in i@

terms of a classical psychiatry, it was unambiguously
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schizophrenic from the beginning. The reason for

the authors! doubts and hesitations is to be found in

the inadequate theory by which, in common with others

—

of their school, they were bound. They state that
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they attach relatively small importance to "diagnostic

labels"., In this they throw overboard a whole field
. THRR

of psychiatric knowledge. The making of a diagnosis

of schizophrenia is not a bagatelle, but is fraught

o,

with consequences of a prognostic, therapeutic, and

S e o

medico-legal kind. It was a fateful circumstance for

T

Hess that a diagnosis of schizophrenia was reached only
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after several years, and after his trial was over.

The main problem presented by this bogk is

probably was. The case ™3

Winston Churchill is the only other person

who has made a plea for treatment - details of his plea

will be given later.__ ahals: af which
Hess was born in Alexandria, Egypt, in 1894,

He is now 64, he had 2 sisters and 1 brother. His father,

who died in 1941, was a wholesale merchant.

A paternal aunt died in a mental hospital at an
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early age and a maternal uncle committed suicide.

Living in a foreigﬁ country perhaps hastened Hess'
feelings about the need for solidarity amongst the German
people. At twelve, he was sent to Godesberg am Rhein to
obtain a proper German education,

At fifteen, he was sent to a commercial school at
Neuchatel in Switzerland. His French became perfect and his
English fair. At sixteen he went to Hamburg to serve an
apprenticeship in commerce. He did not care much for
business but became quite interested in science and
politics.

He volunteered in 1914 and was wounded in 1916 and
1917 while serving in the same infantry regiment as Hitler,
although they did not meet. Towards the end of the war he
was commissioned as a lieutenant in the Air Force and had
just started active duty as a pilot when the war ended.

After the war he went to Munich University
to study Political Science and was wounded in a brawl
in 1919 between the nationalistic and left-wing groups.
About 1920 he met Professor of geopolitics, Carl Haushofer
and for a time lived in his home, almost as a son. After
meeting Hitler in 1923, he joined his Party at Haushofer's urging.
He was one of the first members of the S.A. and was the
leader of the Students' Corps of Police. He took part in
the Munich Beerhall Putsch on November 9th 1923. He escaped
to the Austrian Alps, returned to stand trial and was
imprisoned for 18 months - half of which he spent with
Hitler. Hitler dictated most of "Mein Kampf" to him, Hess
already having been trained as a stenographer before

the war.
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From 1925 until 1932 he was private secretary and
aide-de-camp to Hitler. For one year after Lindbergh flew to
Paris in 1927, Hess planned to be the first to fly westward.

He married in 1927. His wife did not enter his political life.
In 1932 he became the Chairman of the Central Political Committee
of the Party, in succession to Gregor Strasser. At this time he
became the undisputed chief assistant of Hitler and chief

supervisor of all Nazi party organizations and societies.

In March 1933, after the Nazi Party came to power, he
became a member of the Reichstag, and in April of that year he
was appointed Deputy to the Fuehrer, a position which he held
until he flew to England in May of 1941. From the time Hitler
seized power Hess had much to do with promoting Nazi control of
education, labour, religion, etc. In 1934, he transmitted the
execution orders for the Roehm purge. Rees states that he was
probably one of the main executioners though, from the evidence,
this statement appears to be quite without foundation. He
helped formulate anti-Semitic policies and controlled the formation
of the Foreign German Bunds,

By decree of the Fuehrer of April 21st 1933 he received
full power to decide in the name of the Fuehrer on all
matters cohcerning Party leadership. On December 1lst 1933,
he became Reich Minister without Portfolio, another position which
he held throughout the remainder of his time in Germany. As
Reich Minister without Portfolio, in the Law to Secure the
Unity of Party and State of December lst 1933, it was
stated that his task was to guarantee the close working co-operation
of the Party and the SA with public authorities. In 1934 he won a

race around the Zugspitz for sporting aeroplanes.
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In 1935, when Goering was designated as
Hitler's successor as head of state, Hess was
redesignated as Hitler's deputy in the party and
Goering's political successor.

In 1937 his first and only child, a son,
was born. On August 30th 1939 he became a member of
the Council of Ministers for Defense of the Reich.

On September lst, 1939, he was appointed
successor designate to the Fuehrer, after Goering.
During the early part of the war Hess held the
positions of Obergruppenfuehrer in the SS and in the
SA. In addition to the duties of Party Leadership,
the Deputy of the Fuehrer had far-reaching powers in
%the field of} the State. These were:

1. Participation in national and state
legislation, including the preparation of Fuehrer
decrees. #4The Deputy of the Fuehrer in this way
validated the conception of the Party as the guardian
of National Socialist philosophy.%

2. Approval (ef—bhe~E
of
of proposed appointments fef officials and labor service

by him

leaders.

3. ©Securing the influence of the Party over
the self-government of the regional administrations.

The following quotation from the "National
Zeitung" of April 27th 1941 pin-points his position:
"A longrwhile ago-it was still before the outbreak of
the war-Rudolf Hess was once called the 'Conscience of
the Party.! If we ask why the Fuehrer's‘Deputy was

given this.undoubtedly honorable title; the reason for
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this is plain to see. There is no aspect of our
public life which is not the concern of the
Fuehrer's Deputy. So enormously many-sided and
diverse.is'his work and sphere of duty that it
cannot be outlined in a few words; and it lies
in the nature of the duties laid on the Fuehrer's
Deputy that the public at large hears little of
the work of Rudolf Hess. Few know that many
government measures taken, especially in the sphere
of war economy and the Party, which meet with such
hearty approbation when they are proclaimed because
they voice true public feeling, can be traced back
to the direct initiation of the Fuehrer's Deputy.”

As an official, Hess was an extfemely hard
worker. Everything about his office was well
organized. He demanded a tremendous amount of work
from his associates and was particularly concerned
whenever he had to make a speech. Goering once
snorted, "Whenever he had to talk in public, Hess
sweatsblood.” Baldur von Schirach, Hitler's
youth leader, made much the same comment,. |

One of Hess's secretaries wrote as her
opinion that Hess héd 'to leave nothing undone to
bring the German peoplé the dearly desired peace
with England and, thereby, to risk his life, his
family, his freedom and his honourable nature.

From Munich on, he lost weight; his
determination and drive seemed to be burned out;
and he frequently spent long periods at his desk

gazing into space. In addition, he grew
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extraordinarily suspicious of his colleagues-probably unconsciously
imitating Hitler who exhibited the same mood of suspicion at this time.

His more severe mental symptoms can probably be traced to his
discovery, after the Polish war began, that his father substitute,
Hitler, was not a god but a cruel and violent person. This must have been
deeply disturbing to the tender side of Hess's nature. The shock was not
lessened when he learned, early in 1941, that Hitler planned to violate
a basic precept of his earlier father substitute, Haushofer: never to
engage in a two-front war by attacking Russia.

In late 1940, one of Hess's astrologers read in the stars that he
was ordained to bring about peace. Later his old professor, Haushofer,
told Hess of a curious dream he had had--of Rudolf Hess, the German born
in Egypt, striding through the tapestried halls of English castles,
bringing peace between the two great nations, peace to all the world, In
Sept, 1940 a pledge to Hitler not to fly lapsed. He secretly began
'recreational flights' with the innocent connivance of Prof, Messerschmidt.
During the weeks before his flight he spent much time with his son,

On May 1O0th, 1941, ten days after Hitler had secretly set forth the
final plans and date for the attack on Russia, Hess made his flight to
England.

He arrived near his destination in Scotland about 10,30 p.m. and
discovered that of all the things he had learned illicitly,parachuting
was not one. He had difficulty getting out and describes one blackout
when accidently doing an inside loop. He describes being knocked out on
landing and recovering consciousness slowly.

His defense council in his final argument stated;

"As is shown by the presentation of evidence, the defendant
Rudolf Hess had made the decision for this flight as early as June 1940,
that is, immediately after the surrender of France.

The execution of the plan was delayed for a number of reasons.

In addition to certain technical
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conditions which had to be fulfilled in advance, considerations of a
political nature played a part in this delay. Such an enterprise
could be accompanied by success only when the political situation, and
the military position, appeared favourable to the preliminary
arrangements of peace negotiations. The reestablishment of peace was
undoubtedly the aim which Hess pursued by his flight to England.

When Hess met the Duke of Hamilton on the day after his landing,
he explained to the latter, "I come on a mission of humanity."

When Churchill heard on Sunday, May 1llth, that Hess had arrived
in Scotland, he thought this was fantastic.

During the conversation which Hess had with Mr. Kirkpatrick of
the Foreign Office on 13, 14 and 15 May, he explained to him in detail
the motive which had induced him to take this extraordinary step. At the
same time, he brought to his knowledge the conditions under which
Hitler would be prepared to make peace.

Churchill wrote in 1950 that he never attached any serious
importance to this escapade. He considered that Hess knew Hitler better,
and saw him more often, in his unguarded moments, than anyone else,

He understood Hitler's admiration for Britain, and earnest wish to be
friends with the British Empire. Churchill wrote: "We must discount to
some extent the merits of his action by a certain strain of jealousy
which affected his nature at finding that, under war conditions, he no
longer played his old part of friendly confidant with the beloved
Fuehrer." Nevertheless Churchill considered that Hess, by a deed of
superb devotion, tried to sgrpass all the generals and others, who had
been admitted to Hitlers intimacy, and tried to bring to Hitler, a greater
treasure and easement, than all of them put together. It was as if he
said "I will go and make peace with Britain - my life is nothing - how

glad I am to have the life to cast away for such a hope." Such moods
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however naive, were certainly neither wicked, nor
squalid,

In his Memo of May 13th, 1941, to the
Foreign Secretary - Churchill wrote "On the whole,
it would be more convenient to treat Hess as a
prisoner-of-war, under the War Office, and not the
Home Office, but also as one against whom grave
political charges may be referred. This man, like
other Nazi leaders, is potentially a war criminal,
and he and his confederates may well be declared
out-laws at the close of the war. In his case,
his repentance would stand him in good stead.
«++ He should be strictly isolated, in a convenient
house, not too far from London, and every endeavour
should be made to study his mentality, and get
anything worthwhile out of him.
«++ He should not have any contacts with the outer
world, or visitors, except <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>